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Thursday, March 1, 2007


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  I don't think I have anything for the Board to start the morning.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe we're hearing intervenor evidence to start today and we're bringing back the Enbridge bill insert panel later in the day, in the afternoon, I believe.  I think we have witnesses from Direct and from Union Energy.  I'm not sure who proposes to go first.


MS. CRAIN:  We have Rob Jutras from Union Energy, and he will go first, if that's agreeable with everybody.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Please proceed.  


While the witnesses are getting sworn in, Mr. Millar, last day we had the supplementary settlement proposal on issue 6.3 filed as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.


MR. KAISER:  Any parties here have any submissions with respect to that?  So we can assume everyone present is in agreement?  All right.


The Board will give you a decision on this after the break.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  That will form, what, schedule E of the settlement agreement?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I believe it's marked at the top of the document, Mr. Chair.  It's Exhibit M1, tab 1, schedule 1.


MR. KAISER:  Appendix E.


MR. MILLAR:  Appendix E.  That's right.


UNION ENERGY - PANEL 1


Robert Jutras; Sworn

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Crain.


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS. CRAIN:

MS. CRAIN:  Good morning, Mr. Jutras.


MR. JUTRAS:  Good morning.


MS. CRAIN:  I'm going to be going through Mr. Jutras's CV, which is something I circulated to everybody about a month ago.  In the event people don't have copies, I've provided other copies on the trolley.  It hasn't been marked as an exhibit, so perhaps we should do that.


MR. KAISER:  What number is that, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we'll grab some copies for you.  I think we're on day 13, so it's K13.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K13.1:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF MR. JUTRAS

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. CRAIN:  Mr. Jutras, you're the vice‑president of sales for Union Energy; is that right?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MS. CRAIN:  And you've been with Union Energy for about -- well, since 1999?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MS. CRAIN:  And prior to that, you were with Union Gas?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MS. CRAIN:  You've been employed or you've been working in the natural gas and HVAC industry for about 27 years?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MS. CRAIN:  You're also the chair of the HVAC Coalition?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MS. CRAIN:  And you're here today for Union Energy, is that right, not in your capacity as chair for the Coalition?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MS. CRAIN:  Mr. Jutras, can you turn up the Union Energy corporate evidence, which is Exhibit L22.  I just want to confirm that that evidence was prepared by you or under your supervision.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes, it was.


MS. CRAIN:  Similarly, UE's answers to Enbridge's interrogatories, these were all prepared by you or under your supervision, except for answers 9 and 10?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MS. CRAIN:  And, finally, UE's answers to Direct Energy's interrogatories, I just want to confirm that those, again, were all prepared by you or under your supervision, except for numbers 1 and 3?


MR. JUTRAS:  That would be correct.


MS. CRAIN:  And just by way of explanation to everybody, the reason for the carve-out is that we had anticipated that Catherine David Nolan, the CFO of Union Energy, would also be a part of our panel.  She only had evidence on the financial aspects of billing service issue.  Given that that issue has been settled and given that nobody had indicated an interest in cross‑examining her, we haven't produced her today and we're just dealing with Mr. Jutras.


Mr. Jutras, can you explain to the Board, in general, Union Energy's business.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  Union Energy Waterheater Income Fund ‑‑ sorry, UE Waterheater Income Fund owned Union Energy Limited Partnership, and the main business of Union Energy Limited Partnership is the rental and service of a portfolio of more than a million residential rental water heaters, mainly here in the province of Ontario.


We operate under several brands.  Those include Union Energy, Reliance Home Comfort, Reliance Commercial Solutions, Reliance Protectron Security Systems, and also we operate under UEI Financial.


Union Energy owns and services Canada's second-largest portfolio of rental water heaters.  In addition to our rental water-heater business, we are involved in a number of products and services that we feel are complementary to the rental water-heater business, and those include the rental, sale, servicing, installation of residential and some commercial HVAC equipment.


We also have about 190,000 security customers, where we provide monitoring services through the Reliance Protectron Security Systems brand.


In terms of UEI Financial, we also finance the sale and installation of residential HVAC equipment through independent third-party dealers.  So we have relationships with dealers in which we provide financing services to those dealers.


In terms of some of the numbers, our revenues are approximately about $320 million a year.  The UEI finance portfolio is in the neighbourhood of about $85 million right now.


MS. CRAIN:  And just to clarify, the UEI Financial, that's not a separate company.  That comes under the Union Energy LP business?


MR. JUTRAS:  Absolutely.  That is part and parcel of Union Energy LP.


MS. CRAIN:  Union Energy is a member of the HVAC Coalition?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes, it is.


MS. CRAIN:  Has Union Energy ever been an intervenor in a rates case before?


MR. JUTRAS:  No.


MS. CRAIN:  And what caused Union Energy to participate as an intervenor in this hearing?


MR. JUTRAS:  There are a number of issues in this hearing that we think are very, very important to our business.  The bill insert issue, the open bill issue, and EnergyLink are all very, very important in terms of our ability to operate as a business, and we thought that we absolutely have to be present in this hearing to represent the interests of our customers, our employees and our shareholders.


MS. CRAIN:  And perhaps, Mr. Jutras, you can summarize for the Board Union Energy's position with respect to the EnergyLink program.


MR. JUTRAS:  Union Energy's position with respect to EnergyLink is we are absolutely opposed to this program.  We think that there are a number of issues with this program that cause us grave concern.


The first issue, I guess, that I would go to is, you know, just the overall value for money of this program.  You know, we've heard that there are about 120,000 customers on main that this program is targeting at, but we really haven't seen anything where this program specifically puts the bull's eye on those customers.  So we're concerned about that.


We've seen or heard that this is about improving service.  Our company spends a lot of time and effort surveying our customers to understand what they think of the level of service that we provide customers, and, quite frankly, we rank very high in the level of service that we provide customers.  So I don't see how this program is going to improve the level of service that is offered to customers.


The other thing is that we've heard that the program is really designed to sell more natural-gas products.  And, quite frankly, you know, our company is very, very motivated to sell natural-gas products.  We -- pretty much the vast majority of everything we sell is fueled by natural gas, in terms of all of our HVAC equipment and the vast majority of our rental product, as well.


The other areas of concern, I think, is really in the overall impact this is going to have on the marketplace.  You know, Enbridge has suggested that about 7 percent of customers don't know where to go when -- to buy appliances.


Well, 93 percent do know, and I think the evidence is quite clear on that, that a lot of people know where to go.


And, regardless, if they don't know where to go, I don't know how telling them to go to a particular dealer is going to increase the number of appliances that dealer is going sell.


We've also heard that, you know, there's 25,000 calls a year that come into the Enbridge call centres with respect to this, you know, customers not sure where to go.  Our call centre, our business is very different from Enbridge but our call centre would receive about 1.1 million calls a year, service inquiries, bill inquiries, that type.  So 25,000 in terms of our call centre is not a real material -- not something we would spend about $7 million on trying to avoid.


So, you know, the number of calls is not material, I don't believe.  We haven't heard what it is in terms of the gross number of calls going into the Enbridge call centres, but in terms of our call centres, it wouldn't be a material number and it wouldn't warrant an investment of this size.


In terms of other concerns it causes in the marketplace is really, around the benefit that an EnergyLink member receives from the program.  You know, we've heard that there will be preferred programs for EnergyLink members.  And we really see this as an abuse of the monopoly position to benefit select players.  You know, we've heard that these select players will get access to co-op advertising, access to preferred programs, a sharing of information was also described, that they will share information.


And all of this is at ratepayer expense.


I guess our big concern with this is, we are investing money in our company to change our brand.  We're changing our overall operating company to operate under the brand Reliance Home Comfort, and now we're going to be competing with Enbridge as a brand.


So our marketing materials, basically speak to:  If you need a furnace or air conditioner, call Reliance Home Comfort.  And all of a sudden now we're competing with:  If you need a furnace or air conditioner, call Enbridge.  And we don't see that as a level playing field or an appropriate way for Enbridge to use their brand.


The other concern we have is really around, you know, a potential for abuse of the monopoly position to benefit affiliates.  So Enbridge has told us in the business cases that the entry of Enbridge Solutions Inc. into the finance business is really dependent on EnergyLink proceeding.


So we're concerned about that.  And, you know, the other thing that we have not heard from Enbridge is any assurances that they're not entering other -- into the HVAC market in other ways, through affiliates.  So we are very concerned about all of those factors.


MS. CRAIN:  Thank you, Mr. Jutras.


That's all I have for direct.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I'm prepared to go.  I assume that I am the only cross-examiner.  If there are others, I would expect to go last.


MR. KAISER:  Any other parties wish to cross-examine this witness?


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Cass:

MR. Cass:  Mr. Jutras, I had wanted to start out by confirming a few points with you, and I think you have already confirmed them, so I think we can get through this fairly quickly.


Union Energy has never intervened in an Enbridge Gas Distribution rate case before; correct?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And specifically did not intervene in the Enbridge Gas Distribution 2006 rate case.


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Right.  But you are, as I think you've confirmed, the chair of the HVAC Coalition; correct?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  The HVAC Coalition did intervene in the 2006 Enbridge rate case.


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Could I ask you, sir, to turn up your company's responses to interrogatories from Direct Energy.  In particular, I'll be asking you about Interrogatory No. 10 from Direct Energy.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Cass, do you have the complete evidentiary citation for that?  We can pull it up.


MR. CASS:  It's going to take us a while to find this because the pages are not numbered.  I have the responses of Union Energy to Direct Energy's interrogatories, but I don't have an exhibit number on my copy.


MR. MILLAR:  Then maybe we should proceed, as long as the witness has them, and we'll try and find them here.


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm going to need some help finding that, actually.


MR. CASS:  Now, again, these are Direct Energy's interrogatories, not Enbridge's interrogatories.  And I'm in particular interested in Interrogatory No. 10 from Direct.  In response to that, a number of pages were produced which have not been marked, so once you find it, I'm going to have to help us get to the appropriate page.


MS. CRAIN:  Maybe I can help the witness.  That would be behind tab C.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yeah, I've got it, but the number 10...


MS. CRAIN:  It wouldn't be tab 10, it would be --



MR. JUTRAS:  Yeah.


MS. CRAIN:  --  question 10.


MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I have -- I don't think I have anything that says tab C.  I found it, actually, behind a page that does say "tab 10" on it, but yours may be organized differently than mine.


There was a collection of documents produced in response to that interrogatory.


MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  And in my group of documents, the page I'm looking for is about nine pages from the back.  If you could look at that and see if that happens to be a memo from you to Catherine David Nolan of November 2nd, 2005.  That's the particular document I'm looking for.  Unfortunately there are no page numbers.


MR. JUTRAS:  Could you just show it to me, and maybe that would be a quicker way for me to refresh my memory on it?


MR. CASS:  Certainly.  Mr. Bourke, I think, will show it to you.  Again, in mine, it's about nine pages from the back.


MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  So what we have, sir, as I've already said, is an e-mail from you to Catherine David Nolan of November 2nd, 2005.


MR. JUTRAS:  I've got it.


MR. CASS:  You're with me so far?


MR. JUTRAS:  I've got it.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And you, as you've said, are the vice-president sales of Union Energy; correct?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And Catherine David Nolan is, am I right, the financial officer?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And what you were doing here is forwarding to her an e-mail from someone named Evan Merrit; is that right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And as well as Evan Merrit’s e-mail was addressed to you and someone named Roger Rossi.


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Roger Rossi, is he the CEO of Union Energy?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And you, Roger Rossi, and Evan Merrit, I believe, were all, at one time at Union Gas; am I right?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And Evan Merrit is someone who has some considerable experience in regulatory matters; am I right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And so I take it that Union Energy had engaged Evan Merrit to do some work at this point in time?


MR. JUTRAS:  What we had done was, as part of our work with the -- as part of our membership in different associations, we provide resources to those associations.  And as we were going through the 2005 -- or the HVAC Coalition was involved in the 2005 rate case, our organization, quite frankly, wasn't able to provide adequate resources to that effort.  And we were, I think, overall, the Coalition was a little strapped.


So we had asked Evan to help out with work that the Coalition was doing.


MR. CASS:  All right.  So just to get it straight.  First of all, this is an Enbridge Gas Distribution rate case that this work was in relation to; correct?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And I think, in fact, it would have been the 2006 rate case, although this was happening in 2005; does that sound right?


MR. JUTRAS:  That sounds right.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And was Evan Merrit then working for Union Energy?


MR. JUTRAS:  He was a contractor, at that point, to Union Energy.


MR. CASS:  To Union Energy, all right.  Thank you.  


Now, if we could just for a minute, then, flip over to the attachment to the e-mail.  So that would be the next page --


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  -- in this group of documents.  And I want to take you to the first arrow.  It's like a bullet but, in fact, it's an arrow on that document.


MR. JUTRAS:  I see it.


MR. CASS:  Perhaps you'll want to just read that before I ask you any questions.


MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  So now this is Mr. Merit describing, in his document, what was going on in the Enbridge Gas Distribution 2006 rate case; correct?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And what he understood to be the evidence of Enbridge in that case was that there was:

"... a fragmented marketplace with a lack of coordinated and motivated channels supporting and promoting gas use..."


Right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Well, I think he's saying that's Enbridge's view.


MR. CASS:  That's right.  Enbridge's evidence of what was going on; right.  And he was also saying that there was "customer confusion for sources of assistance on energy", according to Enbridge's evidence; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And then this paragraph goes on to say:

"Hence, its proposal in 2006 for an industry-inclusive channel strategy to facilitate natural-gas solutions for customers..."


That's Enbridge's proposal that's being referred to there; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  It appears to say that, yes.


MR. CASS:  Right.  So you clearly understood that in Enbridge's 2006 rate case, it was making a proposal for an "industry-inclusive channel strategy to facilitate natural gas solutions for customers"; correct?


MR. JUTRAS:  We didn't know what that meant.  We didn't know what the ‑‑ what the ‑‑ we had no information.  If what we're saying is this is EnergyLink, we didn't know what EnergyLink was at this point.  


I think the opportunity development section of the ‑‑ and I don't have it in front of me.  The 2005 evidence talked about developing other strategies with channel partners, but it was basically two lines in the evidence, as I recall it, or three lines.


MR. CASS:  I think it might have been a little more than two lines, but that doesn't matter.  I wasn't trying to suggest to you, Mr. Jutras, that this was called EnergyLink --


MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  -- or that this was EnergyLink.  I just wanted you to confirm to me that Union Energy knew that in the 2006 case, Enbridge had a proposal for an industry-inclusive channel strategy to facilitate natural-gas solutions for customers; right? 


MR. JUTRAS:  I -- yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay.


MR. JUTRAS:  Just to be clear, though, we didn't know what that meant, okay, so I just want to make that very clear. We didn't know what that meant.  We didn't have any information about what that strategy was.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Now, if we could go back, then, to Mr. Merrit's e‑mail.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And I'll take you to the first paragraph of his e‑mail.  He says his next step is:

"... to add an assessment of the implication for argument."


Do you see that?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Now, Union Energy, as you've confirmed, was not an intervenor in this case; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  No.


MR. CASS:  So the argument he's referring to is the HVAC Coalition argument?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  What he's referring to is his ‑‑ we had asked him to work with the HVAC Coalition; again, because of the limited resources that we had at the time, to work with the Coalition to provide support to them.


MR. CASS:  Right.  So Union Energy was paying him and he was providing support to the HVAC Coalition?


MR. JUTRAS:  It's ‑‑ yes.  And it's the way the Coalition works, that, you know, any people that participate in the activities of the Coalition are not paid by the Coalition.  They're paid by others, with the exception of legal counsel.


MR. CASS:  Right.  Thank you.


So then there's a reference in this paragraph to the due date for intervenor argument being November 18th.  Do you see that?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And then the second line of the next paragraph refers to "our argument".  It says:

"Our argument is much more compelling to the extent it is based on evidence."


Again, when Mr. Merrit is referring to "our argument", he's referring to the argument of the HVAC Coalition, I take it?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct, yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And then at the beginning of the third paragraph of Mr. Merrit's e‑mail, he says:

"I trust this will also be valuable for our next steps with Martin and/or Brian Dingwall."


Martin would be Martin Luymes from the HVAC Coalition?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct, yes.


MR. CASS:  And Brian Dingwall was the HVAC Coalition's lawyer in the 2006 Enbridge rates case?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And just looking at the next sentence of that same paragraph that we're on now, towards the end of the second sentence there's a question about why Brian did not use some of the ideas and information provided to ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, sorry.  I'm going to stop my friend here.  I don't know why this material was included in the evidence, but HVAC Coalition is my client, and this is obviously a discussion about information provided to counsel to assist him in cross‑examination, which is clearly off limits to Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Well, I don't think so, sir.  There's something called solicitor‑client privilege, but I haven't heard it suggested that Union Energy or Mr. Merrit was Mr. Dingwall's client.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When ‑‑ Mr. Chairman, when counsel is obtaining from the members of an organization advice as to what to put in cross‑examination, it would seem to me that that is solicitor‑client privileged.  This is information from a member of the organization as to what the organization should be doing in the case.


MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Dingwall was the solicitor at the time that could claim the privilege, and he's not here.  You're saying you're claiming the privilege on behalf of HVAC Coalition.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, Mr. Chairman, it's the client's privilege.  It's not the lawyer's privilege; it's the client's privilege.  I represent the client.


MR. KAISER:  And what, in your submission, is privileged about this?


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is privileged is Mr. Cass is attempting to ask questions about what advice the lawyer was given in terms of what questions he should ask in cross‑examination.  This goes to strategy and tactics, which is something that ‑‑ I mean, I'm surprised that he's asking it, frankly.


MR. KAISER:  But this relates to the '05 case, does it not?


MR. CASS:  '06 case.  Yes, sir.  And, no, I'm not going to ask about what the advice was, sir.  I just want the witness to confirm what was said here, that, in fact, Union Energy, through Mr. Merrit, was providing ideas and information to HVAC's counsel.  I wasn't going to ask about the advice.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, the document speaks for itself.  I don't know what this witness can add.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, was anyone else from Union Energy providing ideas and information to HVAC for the 2006 case?


MR. JUTRAS:  Not that I am aware of.


MR. CASS:  Just Mr. Merrit?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  You weren't doing anything?


MR. JUTRAS:  Well, I was involved in meetings.  I was the chair of the ‑‑ actually, at that point, in November of 2005, I don't believe I was the chair.  I was a participant in the Coalition.  So I would have been involved in meetings with other board members at that time.


MR. CASS:  Actually, that was where I wanted to go next.  Was -- this information that Mr. Merrit was providing to the HVAC Coalition, was that done in the presence of the HVAC Coalition board, or was this done separately from board meetings?


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm sorry, the work that he was doing?   It wouldn't have been during a board meeting.  He was sent off to look at transcripts and things like that.  So it wasn't particularly in the presence of other board members when he was doing that work.  


Any information that came back from Mr. Merrit I'm sure would have been shared with board members, though.


MR. CASS:  Well, specifically, when he was providing ideas and information for the HVAC Coalition, was he doing that through the HVAC Coalition board or was he doing that directly with the people referred to here?


MR. JUTRAS:  He was supporting the HVAC Coalition board.


MR. CASS:  But was he doing that at board meetings or was he providing this information directly?  


MR. JUTRAS:  As I recall, he attended some board meetings and provided updates.  Evan Merrit had a long history with the HVAC Coalition board.  He provided support like this for the board, I believe, in other matters that were taking place I believe in Alberta and in some other jurisdictions.


So this was not new, that Evan Merrit was supporting the board.  He had supported that board long before I was a member of the board.  So this was not something new that he was doing.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  If I could take you back to the sentence we were just looking at, Mr. Jutras.  Mr. Merrit is saying:

"I would also like to be briefed on what took place in camera, and why Brian did not use some of the ideas and information provided to him."


How did Mr. Merrit know what Brian Dingwall did or did not do during the board's confidential sitting?


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm assuming ‑‑ which board are you referring to?


MR. CASS:  I believe this would be ‑‑ it refers to an in camera session.  I believe that would be an in camera session of this Ontario Energy Board.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  So you would have to ask Mr. Dingwall and Mr. Merrit that question.


MR. CASS:  You don't know?


MR. JUTRAS:  I don't know.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.


Now, Mr. Merrit says that he wanted to be briefed on what took place in camera, again, I assume before this Board.  Do you know if he was briefed on what took place in camera?


MR. JUTRAS:  No, I don't know.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, just looking at the final words of this same e‑mail, Mr. Jutras.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Merit says he's inclined to:

"... send the final cleaned-up version of this report to Martin and Brian."


Again, that's Mr. Luymes and Mr. Dingwall?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Do you know if that happened, if the final cleaned-up report was sent?


MR. JUTRAS:  I can't confirm that.  I would expect it did, but I can't confirm that.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Going back to the attachment to the e‑mail, Mr. Jutras.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I'd asked you some questions about the first arrow or bullet point, and then there's a series of them under the initial heading followed by the words:

"Implications to be completed in preparation for argument."


Again, this is referring to HVAC Coalition's argument, I take it?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And so did Evan Merrit do this?  Did he complete this work in preparation for HVAC Coalition's argument?


MR. JUTRAS:  He provided this document, I believe, to Brian Dingwall.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Correct me if I am wrong; I take it this to mean that he was going to do more work.  He was going to do work on implications in preparation for argument.  Do you know if that happened?


MR. JUTRAS:  I don't know.  I don't know.


MR. CASS:  Can I take you back a few more pages in this same collection of documents?  I think it's about six pages in front of where we were, so...


MR. JUTRAS:  Six pages in front.


MR. CASS:  And it's some handwritten notes.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Now, just --


MR. JUTRAS:  Is this an e-mail that -- is this an e-mail with my name at the top?


MR. CASS:  Handwritten notes.  Yes, it says:  "Rob Jutras - meeting" at the top.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, before you go on, where did these notes come from?


MR. CASS:  I'm going to actually ask the witness that, sir.  I think I know but I'll try to confirm with him.


And correct me if I am wrong, Mr. Jutras, I think I know what these are but don't let me misstate anything.  These documents came to us, I believe, because they were from the records of a private investigator that had been retained by Union Energy.


MR. JUTRAS:  Right.


MR. CASS:  Am I right so far?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And so my assumption was that the private investigator had met with you and made some notes of a meeting with you; am I right?


MR. JUTRAS:  I personally did not meet with the private investigator, no, so I'm not sure where the -- who is the author of these notes.  I think what we were asked for is we were asked for our file relating to that investigation, and we provided the file.


MR. CASS:  Yes, I think it was the investigator's file, yes.  That's fine.


MR. JUTRAS:  We just provided -- these are not my notes.  I didn't write this.  So I really can't speak to the origin of it.  It was in the file.


MR. CASS:  Do you recall having a meeting with anyone where these items were discussed?


MR. JUTRAS:  What I do recall, meeting with our inside legal counsel, talking about the fact that we wanted to understand the builder process between Direct and Enbridge Gas Distribution and the builder.  That was the spirit in which this investigation was taking place.


I did not meet personally with the investigator.  So I'm just speculating where these came from; I don't know where they came from.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Is there any way that you can find out?


MR. JUTRAS:  I can take -- I'll give it my best effort to find out but it was in the file.  I'll ask the person that was holding the file if they can identify where this came from.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, maybe we can do something else.  You see, my understanding is that we only have these documents because these happen to be what the private investigator had in his records.  Can you produce to me Union Energy’s records about these events around the Enbridge Gas Distribution 2006 rate case?


MS. CRAIN:  Well, I think I'm going to have to jump in here.  To provide the Board with the context of this, when bill insert and open bill was still an issue here, one of the issues was what advantage Direct Energy was getting as a result of its relationship on the bill and with bill inserts and so forth.  So in that spirit, and in 2005, Union retained this investigator to do some kind of mystery shopping.  What type of representations were being made out there to the builder community.


This was produced at the request of Direct Energy to provide this investigator's file.  We did that.  I have absolutely no understanding of how any of these notes about a 2006 hearing done by who knows whom that were in this investigator's file are of any relevance whatsoever today to the issues that are live now in this case.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, I share Ms. Crain's concern.  Can you tell us what the relevance is?


MR. CASS:  Yes, certainly, Mr. Chair.  I'd be happy to address that.


First, Mr. Chair, it's difficult for Enbridge Gas Distribution to know what positions these parties - if they are separate parties, Union Energy and HVAC Coalition - are going to be taking at the end of this case.  However, we have already heard questions as to what Enbridge Gas Distribution had proposed in the 2006 case.  It appears from what we're looking at now that Union Energy knew quite clearly what was being proposed in the 2006 case, and it appears that Union Energy was sharing that with HVAC Coalition.  So on this issue that's been raised as to the knowledge of what was proposed in 2006 case, I think it's very relevant to see Union Energy's files, because they clearly have documents on this.


We only happen to have seen this because it came from the private investigator.


Second, I think it's quite relevant to the Board's understanding of whether HVAC Coalition and Union Energy really are two separate intervenors or one -- effectively one party here trying to speak with two voices.


Third, Mr. Chair, as you would be aware, there's been a number of questions about who the HVAC Coalition really represents.  And in this context, I've asked a number of questions which I think are going to whether it's HVAC Coalition is really a representative of the industry, or whether it's really taking instructions from Union Energy, and I think it's quite relevant to see these documents in relation to that for the Board's understanding of who the HVAC Coalition really represents.


And finally, Mr. Chair, there's at least a concern in my mind raised by these documents about what happened with confidential information from the Board's 2006 proceeding.  I don't know how that would have passed to Union Energy which was not a party to that proceeding.  The only thing I can see is that perhaps there's a theory consistent with what Mr. Jutras was saying on other subjects, that Union Energy is assisting HVAC Coalition, and therefore they're somehow to be treated as one and the same for the purposes of that confidential information.


Well, whether that's right or wrong, again, I think it's quite relevant to for the Board to know whether, in fact, they have been treating themselves as really one party such that they can share confidential information from Board proceedings.


So for all those reasons and probably many more, Mr. Chair, I think it's very relevant to know.


MR. KAISER:  Well, let's just deal with the last one first.  If there's a claim that the process was abused by Union Energy or its lawyers or its consultants in that disclosure of confidential information was released improperly, that's a separate issue.  It can be taken up with but I don't know that we need to --


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I'm not making that claim.  I just see a document there.  It certainly raises a question. I don't think Mr. Jutras was able to answer.  I'm not making the claim.  I just think it's relevant for the Board to consider in understanding the relationship of these parties.


MR. KAISER:  Well, it may or may not be but we're dealing with documents here that were not written by this witness.  In any case, he doesn't know who wrote them.  So it's hearsay at the best.


As to the relationship between Union Energy and the HVAC Coalition, you can explore that directly.  We don't need to plough through these documents.  You can examine the witness all you want on that issue.


MR. CASS:  But I say the documents could be very helpful to me in doing that.


MR. KAISER:  That's where I'm losing you.  This relates to last year's case.  What these witnesses understood as to your EnergyLink program last year it doesn't seem to me is relevant.  We're here this year; there's been great detailed evidence as to what EnergyLink is, and examination on it.


I'm losing it as to whether they had a misconception or didn't fully understand the program last year, when there was three lines or four lines of evidence.  I don't see what it has to do.


You've fully indicated what the program is and what you intend to do and there's been examination on it.  What does it matter that they didn't understand last year what the program was?


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Chair, I think they did understand it.  They captured it extremely clearly in this document.  So if their position is going to be they didn't understand it, I would like to have full production of the documents to see whether that is confirmed by their own documents.  This document does not seem to confirm that.


MR. KAISER:  Whether they did or didn’t understand it last year, they understand it this year, and we’re dealing with this year’s case.  What do we care about whether they did or did not understand it last year?


MR. CASS:  Well -- and the other aspect of this, Mr. Chair, is if you think about the evidence of the HVAC Coalition in this case, we had a number of witnesses representing individual contractors, and they were very specific that they were only here to speak for their own companies.  They were not speaking for anyone else.


The only evidence, as I understand it, that we had that is purported to be broader than that from the HVAC Coalition was the survey.  And I'm going to be coming to this with Mr. Jutras.


What we've seen so far is that the survey, really, was initiated by Union Energy.  This again is, I think, very relevant for the Board to consider when it addresses who the HVAC Coalition is really representing.  And this background information, I think, will be relevant to that as well.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't you proceed with that question.  That seems to be directly on point.  Let's find out who authored the survey.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Jutras, can I ask you to turn up, please -- I don't know if you would have this or if you need help, but the survey is attached to an HVAC Coalition interrogatory response.  That's Enbridge Gas Distribution Interrogatory No. 14 to the HVAC Coalition. 

MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.  I've got it.


MR. CASS:  And if I could ask you, sir, please, just to turn to the last page of ‑‑ I'm sorry, I shouldn't have called it the survey.  It's not the actual survey.  It's some sort of draft contractual documentation that appears to relate to the survey.


MR. JUTRAS:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Perhaps I could just ask you, sir, to first of all explain what this document is.


MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.  So this is a proposal regarding some research that the HVAC Coalition was going to be conducting with the objectives of ‑ and I think the objectives are clearly stated ‑ understanding ‑‑ it's about EnergyLink, and understanding the program awareness and enrolment status, motivators and barriers, concerns to participation, understanding of the program's scope and procedures, and understanding of the program benefits and obligations.


And that was the intent of that document, was to lay out how we might get that information.


MR. CASS:  Thank you for explaining that, sir.


Could I ask you to turn to the last page of that document?  Again, I'm not sure if the pages are numbered, but I think it's about four pages into the document, the last page.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And this document, there are no signatures on it, but it shows you as being a signatory to the contract; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And it indicates that Synergy Marketing fees were going to be paid by Union Energy; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's what this indicates, yes.


MR. CASS:  And to the extent that there ended up being any charges beyond the original scope of the work, Union Energy was taking responsibility for those; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's what this says, yes.


MR. CASS:  Right.  So did you actually sign a contract with this company?


MR. JUTRAS:  I don't believe I ever did.  This work was for the HVAC Coalition.  I don't believe I signed an agreement.


MR. CASS:  Did anyone sign a document?


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm not aware of us signing a document.  I don't recall signing this document.  This particular document is not signed, so I don't recall signing it.  


I think the way this came about, again, is that Synergy Marketing does work for Union Energy.  I knew them, and what I did was I brought them -- as a result of the Board deciding we had to proceed with a survey, when we said, Who is capable of creating a survey that would be meaningful and help us to understand this program, we presented Synergy Marketing. 


They ‑‑ I had a brief meeting with them, with Martin Luymes on it.  I wasn't there for the full meeting.  I left Martin and Cheryl Lipman to work out the details of that.


So I don't recall signing an agreement.  That agreement was clearly between the HVAC Coalition and Synergy Marketing.


MR. CASS:  But who prepared the actual document?  Was it ‑‑


MR. JUTRAS:  This would have been ‑‑ it was prepared by Synergy Marketing.


MR. CASS:  That's what I thought.  I thought it was there somewhere.  Thank you for confirming that.  So Cheryl Lipman or somebody at Synergy prepared this in the expectation that you were going to be signing it; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  It appears that way.  I know Cheryl.


MR. CASS:  So are you the one, then, who had the contact with Cheryl Lipman and described to her what you were looking to have done?


MR. JUTRAS:  No.  Well, that was done jointly.  Myself and Martin Luymes were present for that meeting.  There may have been others.  I just can't recall if there were others present that day.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  But you were involved in that?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  It took place at the HRAI offices, that meeting.  But, again, I wasn't there for the full meeting.  I left part-way through it.  I just made the introductions and we talked for a few minutes, and then I had to excuse myself.


MR. CASS:  And the idea of using this firm for the survey came from you or Union Energy?


MR. JUTRAS:  As part of our work with the Coalition, we provide whatever support we can to it, and we knew this company and felt they were qualified and recommended them.


MR. CASS:  And did the idea of doing a survey come from you or Union Energy?


MR. JUTRAS:  I think that would have been a discussion that took place amongst the board members.  I can't take credit for the idea of the survey.  I don't recall.


MR. CASS:  Do you remember whose idea it was?


MR. JUTRAS:  It would have been out of a discussion in the board meeting.  So, you know, the board is a very active board.  There's a lot of good debate on items.  Union Energy in no way controls what that board does.  They have their own very good ideas, and I can't tell you exactly who decided we were going to proceed with this survey.  


All I know is that we decided we were going to proceed, and when that decision was made, we were talking about who might be able to do this work.  And Union Energy had a relationship with Synergy Marketing.  They do all of our customer satisfaction.  We recommended them.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Do you have any ‑‑ does Union Energy have any other documents about this Synergy Marketing survey?


MR. JUTRAS:  No.  I'm not aware of any documents that we have on this.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And what else has Union Energy done to support HVAC's participation in this case?


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm not sure I can answer that.  What do you mean by what else have we done?


MR. CASS:  Well, you apparently recommended this survey company, and a document was prepared indicating that Union Energy was taking some financial responsibility.  You say it wasn't signed, and I'm asking you:  What else did Union Energy do to support HVAC Coalition's participation in this case?


MR. JUTRAS:  I participated in board meetings of the HVAC Coalition.  I can't point to something very specifically that we've done.  I'm not sure I can answer the question.  


As a participant in the board, we participate in discussions that take place at the HVAC Coalition, but I can't point to things ‑‑ it's like any association you belong to.  You participate in it.  You actively participate.  And that's what we do.


MR. CASS:  Right.  Is Evan Merrit still working for Union Energy?


MR. JUTRAS:  No.


MR. CASS:  When did that end?


MR. JUTRAS:  I believe ‑‑ and I won't have the dates.  It would be at the time of this builder investigation we were doing.  So I can't recall now if that was ‑‑ was that January of ‑‑ January, February of 2006?


MR. CASS:  But that investigation was part of something you filed in this case?


MR. JUTRAS:  We were asked to file it.  We were asked to file, in response to an interrogatory, that file, and we filed it.


MR. CASS:  Right, but in your original prefiled evidence, that investigation was part of what you discussed for the purposes of this case; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  I believe we filed a schedule that was produced on builder installation allowances and such, and that's what raised the question of, Please submit the file on the entire investigation.


MR. CASS:  Right.  Well, again, Mr. Chair, I renew my request for the witness to provide the documents indicating the interaction between Union Energy and HVAC Coalition in relation to Enbridge Gas Distribution's 2006 and 2007 rate cases.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I don't know what the relevance of the 2006 case is, but with respect to this case, help us as to what specifically you're looking for --


MR. CASS:  Again, Mr. Chair --


MR. KAISER:  -- in terms of documents.


MR. CASS:  I don't know what the documents would be, sir.  We only happen to have seen some documents because of what came from a private investigator's file.


It's clear from what came from the private investigator's file that Union Energy has its own documents.  There are e‑mails passing and documents within Union Energy.  Other than that, I don't know what they are until I see them.


MR. KAISER:  No, we can't order a wholesale production of documents without specifying.  We have to give them some scope.  When you ask for documents as to how Union Energy supports HVAC Coalition in this case, you want any documents that could be read as ‑‑ outside of his participation on the board?


MR. CASS:  Yes, sir.  I'm not asking for ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  You understand that he does participate on the board?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And to that extent, Union Energy could be seen to be supporting this case, I suppose.  They probably contribute fees.  They probably contribute to legal counsel.  Do you want something over and above that?


MR. CASS:  Yes, sir.  Again, I'm looking for the documents relating to the interaction between Union Energy and the HVAC Coalition in relation to the 2006 and 2007 cases.  And, again, I don't need anything that has to do with Mr. Jutras's participation on the HVAC Coalition board.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Crain?


MS. CRAIN:  I'm having great difficulty seeing (a) the relevance, and (b) the foundation in the evidence to allow Mr. Cass to pursue this line of inquiry.


It is clear that Union Energy is participating here as an independent intervenor.  They are represented by Borden Ladner Gervais.  The HVAC Coalition has their own counsel.  You've heard Mr. Jutras's evidence that he is a member of the Coalition and he is the chair of the board, and in that context, as a board member, he has contributed to board meetings and so forth.


I don't think there's any mystery here that needs to be unravelled.  It is as simple as that, and I think these questions are improper, and, frankly, completely irrelevant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, if I can assist.  I assume that Mr. Cass isn't asking for communications between counsel.


MR. KAISER:  I assume that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I also assume that he's not asking for details of the financial contribution of Union Energy to HVAC Coalition, which we've already discussed in the past.


MR. CASS:  Well, that was going to be my last question in this area, but that's not part of what I'm asking for here; no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then we can cross that bridge when we come to it.


The other area which Mr. Jutras, I think, has forgotten but was brought to mind when we discussed this is, there was a motion with respect to some evidence, and the HVAC Coalition filed the evidence of a branding expert.  Union Energy put us in touch with that branding expert, although we dealt with them directly.  They nonetheless put us in touch with that person.  And there is probably some documentation on that.  I don't know what that documentation is but there's probably some.  And I don't think we have any objection, unless Union Energy does, I don't think HVAC has any objection to producing that.


MR. CASS:  But, Mr. Chair, it can't be selective.  If the --


MR. KAISER:  Well, I understand it can't be selective, but just asking for wholesale production of any documents they may have -- I mean, it seems to me that you were going to go to this, I understand, that the core question here -- they may have referred a branding expert.  They may have referred Synergy Marketing to the association, and so, you can get that on record and make what you want of it.


Seems to me the core issue is what their financial support is of the HVAC Coalition.  Why don't you ask that?  That's where the buck will stop.


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Jutras, I think you know the next question.


Is Union Energy financially supporting the HVAC Coalition's activities in relation to this case?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And how much of the HVAC Coalition's financial support is coming from Union Energy?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'm happy to have Mr. Jutras advise what percentage of HVAC's financial support they provide.  I'm not happy that he provides the dollar amount because that would then provide information on our overall fundraising, which I don't think is EGD's right to ask about.


MR. KAISER:  Well, it seems to me, Mr. Cass, you're probably interested in the percentage in any event.


MR. CASS:  I'm interested in the percentage in any event.  I would have been interested in the other figure as well, but we might as well hear the percentage.


MR. JUTRAS:  And I wouldn’t know that sitting here right now, so we'd have to take it that way and tell you what the percentage is.  I don't know think that’s a material percentage at all, but I just can't tell you what it is.  I don't know.


MR. CASS:  You would know the amount, the dollar amount, of Union Energy's contribution?


MR. JUTRAS:  For 2006?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And how much is that?


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd has an objection in that regard.  I don't know that that needs to go on the public record.  The relevant thing here is the percentage.  I understand he can't calculate the percentage, but possibly, sir, you could discuss it with your counsel and counsel for HVAC Coalition may be able to produce the percentage, and that will satisfy Mr. Cass.


MR. JUTRAS:  And I would suggest it's not material but we can give that to them.


MR. KAISER:  Give them a number and they'll make what they want of it.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, shall we give that an undertaking number?  It's J13.1.  And just to make sure we're entirely clear, Mr. Cass, do you want to have a stab at stating the undertaking.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, as I understand what the witness is prepared to do is determine the percentage of Union -- the percentage of HVAC Coalition's funding for this case that comes from Union Energy.


UNDERTAKING NO. J13.1:  to determine the percentage 


of HVAC Coalition's funding for this case that comes 


from Union Energy


MR. JUTRAS:  Just so I'm clear, I'm not sure that Union Energy can give you that.  I think the HVAC Coalition has to give you that.


MR. CASS:  And that's why I wasn't pressing that, Mr. Jutras.  I don't think you can give me that.  That's why I was asking for what I thought you would know, which was simply the dollar amount that Union Energy is providing to the HVAC Coalition.


MR. JUTRAS:  And I take it Mr. Shepherd has an objection to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We’ll assist Mr. Jutras in providing him with the information so he can comply with the undertaking.


MR. KAISER:  I think it's best we just deal with this off-line.  If we can't resolve it we'll come back to it, but if the two counsel can discuss it with the witness at the break, we'll come back to it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And just, Mr. Chair, I'm just concerned about the selectivity of the answers.  The answers, apparently, will be that those two parties together, assuming they are two parties, are prepared to provide as opposed to the information that I'm asking.


MR. KAISER:  No, I think on this question, as I understand the undertaking, there is a certain amount that's being spent by the HVAC Coalition on this case, and there is a certain amount that's being funded by Union Energy, and we can do the math.  And that will tell you the degree of support that Union Energy is providing to this case.  That's what you want.


MR. CASS:  Well, if we can get the numbers to do the math, then certainly.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, sorry.  I think Mr. Cass has misunderstood your comment.  We'll ensure that he has the  percentage, which I think is the issue that is relevant.  How dominant Union Energy is relative to HVAC Coalition.  We're not planning to provide the dollar figures.


MR. KAISER:  No.  I understood that.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Jutras, I'd just like to move on to some other questions to follow-up on what you said in examination-in-chief about the business of Union Energy, if you don't mind.


I understand that Union Energy promotes or sells water heaters, that's right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  Mainly rental of water heaters.


MR. CASS:  Mainly rental but both sales and rental?


MR. JUTRAS:  The number of water heaters we actually sell I wouldn't suggest is material in any way.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.


MR. JUTRAS:  It's principally rental.


MR. CASS:  And that includes both Gas and Electric?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Heating and air-conditioning equipment are both offered by Union Energy.


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.  We both sell and rent heating and air conditioning equipment.


MR. CASS:  And obviously in those categories that would include both gas and electric.


MR. JUTRAS:  In the HVAC?


MR. CASS:  Heating and air-conditioning.


MR. JUTRAS:  In terms of furnaces, they are 100 percent natural gas.  Air-conditioners are electric, mainly high-efficiency electric air-conditioners.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And another area, I think, is air quality equipment; is that right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Now, I don't know, is that gas and electric as well, or just electric.


MR. JUTRAS:  Pretty much electric, or no fuel required.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Is that rental and sales?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And as you've already confirmed, your company offers financing to customers.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes, it does.


MR. CASS:  And what's that for?


MR. JUTRAS:  If a customer is interested in purchasing a new HVAC system for their home, we will finance that, and we operate a business, UEI financial, which provides that product.  The product is offered not only through our own stores but also through independent third parties.  So, for instance, a lot of the EnergyLink members would be promoting UEI finance.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you.


And do you know how many EnergyLink members also would offer Union Energy water heaters?


MR. JUTRAS:  No, I don't know that.


MR. CASS:  Would you take it, subject to check, that there would be approximately 22 of those?


MR. JUTRAS:  I don't know how I would check it.  I can't get a list of EnergyLink members.  I don't think that information is being shared.  So I don't know that I can cross-reference anything unless I called all, whatever, 600 -- well, I guess I could drill it down into the Enbridge area ,but there's a lot of dealers I'd have to call to ask if they're an EnergyLink participant.


MR. CASS:  But how many of those in the Enbridge Gas Distribution area would actually be offering the water heaters?


MR. JUTRAS:  The water heaters?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. JUTRAS:  We have several dealers offering water heaters in the Enbridge area, so I don't know off the top the actual number.


MR. CASS:  So you don't actually know how many of those offering your own company's water heaters, Union Energy water heaters, are part of EnergyLink?


MR. JUTRAS:  No, I don't.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, another product or service offered by Union Energy is something called a comfort protection plan.


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And correct me if I am wrong but this covers service and repairs to equipment, does it?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And again, would that be gas and electric?


MR. JUTRAS:  Pretty much gas.  It's pretty much all gas.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  But is it exclusively gas or does it include some electric?


MR. JUTRAS:  Electric air-conditioners, again.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And what about just general HVAC services?  I'm not sure, does Union Energy still have its own HVAC contractors or not?


MR. JUTRAS:  We have both employees and a contractor network, yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And then you also referred to security services.


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  So does that cover all of the businesses of Union Energy?


MR. JUTRAS:  The one that you really haven't touched on specifically but it's in there, I think, is the reliance and commercial solutions, where we offer rental products to principally small business; water heaters, principally, and some central heating systems that they rent to small business, apartment buildings.


MR. CASS:  Was that gas and electric products?


MR. JUTRAS:  Pretty much all gas.  In one of the portfolios we acquired in Mississauga, I believe, there is some small commercial electric tanks in it.  Pretty much all our growth is gas.  You don't see a lot of growth in electric other than the acquisitions we do of different portfolios that might be out there and up for sale.


MR. CASS:  Now, as far as water heaters are concerned, could I ask you quickly to turn up the response to Enbridge Gas Distribution's Interrogatory No. 36 please?  So I have it as Exhibit I -- Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 36, and the interrogatory responses are all together in a 23‑page package.  I have this being at page 18 of Exhibit I, tab 27.


MR. JUTRAS:  And what was the number?  Just ‑‑


MR. CASS:  Number 36, page 18 of 23.


MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.  I've got it.


MR. CASS:  Now, this is providing the distribution of Union Energy's rental water heater portfolio?


MR. JUTRAS:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  I was just interested in those that are within Enbridge Gas Distribution's franchise area.


MR. JUTRAS:  Right.


MR. CASS:  And the numbers are on the page.  They are both something in excess of 40,000, aren't they, the electric water heaters and the natural-gas water heaters in the Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise area; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And the electric is lower, but I make it to be within roughly 10 percent of the gas.  Does that sound about right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Sounds about right.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, I just wondered about the next question.  The next question was Enbridge Gas Distribution ‑‑ this is interrogatory 37, just asking you to look forward to 2007 and give us a similar breakdown as to what you foresaw for 2007 between electric and gas, and you refused to answer that.  


I just wonder, is there a particular concern about indicating what your expectations are as to the breakdown between gas and electric in 2007?


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm just not sure how our sales forecast is relevant to this proceeding.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, we can leave that, then.  I certainly ‑‑


MR. JUTRAS:  What I could tell you is that most of our sales efforts are around natural gas again.


MR. CASS:  But do you have a projection for 2007 in the Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise areas?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes, we do.  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And you would prefer not to provide that, I take it?


MR. JUTRAS:  Exactly.


MR. CASS:  All right.  And I'd like to speak to you about products that I believe Union Energy does not sell or rent, and if I'm wrong, correct me, but you do not sell or rent natural-gas dryers?


MR. JUTRAS:  No, we do not.


MR. CASS:  Natural-gas ranges?


MR. JUTRAS:  Not at this point.


MR. CASS:  Natural-gas fireplaces?


MR. JUTRAS:  No.


MR. CASS:  Natural-gas pool heaters?


MR. JUTRAS:  Boilers.


MR. CASS:  Boilers?  I'm sorry, I don't know enough about ‑‑


MR. JUTRAS:  Pool heaters are not something in the current product line.


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry?


MR. JUTRAS:  Pool heaters are not something in the current product line.


MR. CASS:  So in terms of Union Energy's information about the penetration of those types of products, I take it you wouldn't be able to help me, then, because they aren't something that you're currently involved in?


MR. JUTRAS:  We're not currently involved in those products.


MR. CASS:  Okay.


Now, I just had a couple of other areas of questioning.  I had sent by e‑mail to your counsel a week or so ago a document.  It's a prospectus --


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  -- of the Union Energy Waterheater Operating Trust.  


I had a few questions for you on some of the comments in that.  It's a very lengthy document in total, I think about 118 pages.  I don't intend to refer to all of the pages.  So I've passed around to everyone the first -- I think it's roughly 27 pages of the document.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, that's Exhibit K13.2, and it is the Union Energy Waterheater Prospectus dated February 6, 2004.


EXHIBIT NO. K13.2:  UNION ENERGY WATERHEATER 


PROSPECTUS DATED FEBRUARY 6, 2004.

MR. CASS:  I was just going to ask you to confirm and explain a few things, Mr. Jutras, and if any of this has changed, please don't hesitate to tell me.  I will assume that things have not changed since the date of this prospectus, but if they have, please tell me.


MR. JUTRAS:  Well, a lot of things have changed.


MR. CASS:  In relation to what I'm going to be talking about.  I don't need you to comment on the entire document.


So looking at the first page, just above where the trademarks, if I can call it that, for Union Energy and Ontario Hydro Energy are displayed, there's the wording that "Union Energy operates under two principal brands displayed below."


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And is that correct that those are the principal brands of Union Energy?


MR. JUTRAS:  Not any longer.  This is a very dated document, so today I think I talked about the brands we currently operate under.


So Ontario Energy, we do not operate under that brand.


MR. CASS:  Sorry, Ontario Hydro Energy?


MR. JUTRAS:  Ontario Hydro Energy, we do not operate under that brand.  Our brands, we're spending tremendous amounts ‑‑ well, not tremendous.  We're spending appropriate amounts of money building new brand, Reliance Home Comfort.  So the brands that we currently operate on are Union Energy, Reliance Home Comfort, Reliance Commercial Solutions, Reliance Protectron Security Systems and UEI Financial.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  When did the use of the Ontario Hydro Energy brand cease?


MR. JUTRAS:  Subject to check, I believe it was in the fall of 2005.  I might be off a little bit on that, but it was some time ago.


MR. CASS:  Okay.


MR. JUTRAS:  We've converted to Reliance Home Comfort in that marketplace.


MR. CASS:  All right.  And with respect to the Union Energy name --


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  -- could I just take you to page 2 of the document, sir, please?


MR. JUTRAS:  Got it.


MR. SMITH:  Looking at the second paragraph under "Trademarks", it says:

"Union Energy has the exclusive royalty-free rights to the Union Energy brand name and flame design until November 2006..."


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  "... thereafter extendable."  Now, was that extended?


MR. JUTRAS:  No.  Well, it's extended ‑‑ I believe it said -- I read somewhere in here, as I understood, it expires in 2008.  So we have been working since actually about 2003 to build our new brand, Reliance, and we have been transferring our business starting in -- I believe it was the summer of 2005, we started to change significant markets, starting with London, to the new brand and moving away from the Union name.


MR. CASS:  Yes, but I assume that there had to have been some sort of extension, because you haven't completely ceased using the Union Energy name yet; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  Not quite yet.  We have one market we left, which is here in Toronto, where we still operate under Union Energy.


MR. CASS:  Right.  Now, in connection with whatever arrangements were made with Union Gas for the use of that name, was there a non‑compete that was part of the arrangement?


MR. JUTRAS:  I believe there was.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Could I ask you just to flip over to page 6 of the document, sir, and I'll ask you to explain the statement, if you don't mind.


Looking at the second full paragraph on page 6, the opening words are:

"Union Energy owns approximately 1 million customer relationships." 


And then a couple of sentences in, there's a statement about:

"Management believes that by owning its customer relationships Union Energy is able to control the development of its commercial relationships."


What does it mean when it says that Union Energy owns these customer relationships?


MR. JUTRAS:  I would take it that the customer clearly understands that they're dealing with Union Energy, so, through the billing relationship, they clearly understand who they're dealing with.  And when we separated from Union Gas January 1, 1999, a new billing system was part of that separation.


So we clearly have that relationship with the customer through our billing relationship.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  So that's as much as you can tell me about owning customer relationships?


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm not sure ‑‑ I'm not sure what else I can add to it, but...


MR. CASS:  Okay.  So then maybe you can help me with the other sentences.  What does it mean when it says that:

"Management believes that by owning its customer relationships, Union Energy is able to control the development of its commercial relationships"?


MR. JUTRAS:  Well, I think what ‑‑ we've been quite public on our strategy.  Our strategy is very much about taking those 1.1 million customer relationships and leveraging them into other products and services.


You know, I don't think our strategy is much unlike the EnergyLink program, in terms of what that's about, in terms of leveraging that relationship into other products and services for Enbridge.  


So our strategies are very much aligned, I think, in terms of ‑‑ our go-to-market strategy is very much taking the relationship we built with these customers and leveraging it into other products and services.  It could be ‑‑ I should finish.  It's not only about customer relationships.  


It's about dealer relationships, too, and that clearly is our strategy on our dealer relationships.  How do we involve the dealer network we have in other products and services?


MR. CASS:  Right.  Well, you have a range of products and services, as we've already talked about, so what you can do with your customers is you can cross-sell --


MR. JUTRAS:  Right.


MR. CASS:  -- different products and services; right?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And I think that's discussed in this document.  But you don't perceive that the EnergyLink program has to do with cross-selling Enbridge Gas Distribution products and services, do you?


MR. JUTRAS:  Well, you know, I guess what I would suggest is that that really is what Enbridge Solutions Inc. is about, their financing offer; right?  It's taking the relationship you have with EnergyLink and bringing in a financing offer.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, is that the context in which you think that there's some cross-selling associated with EnergyLink?  I just want to be sure I get your understanding of what you think EnergyLink is.  And that's where you see the concept of cross-selling?


MR. JUTRAS:  That's one area.


MR. CASS:  Is there anything else?


MR. JUTRAS:  Well, yes, there are.  There's other things in the documents we've seen recently, the Atocha documents, where it talks about understanding the value of these dealer relationships.  That could mean if I wanted to get into the HVAC business, who are those dealers I'm going to target in terms of acquisition.  So that's an opportunity for an affiliate as well.


MR. CASS:  So part of your concern here is somebody getting into the HVAC business; is that what you're saying?


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm concerned about using a, I would call it a ratepayer-sponsored brand to get into the HVAC business, yes.


MR. CASS:  And it's in that context that you talk about cross-selling, that you think if there was an effort to get into the HVAC business connected with EnergyLink, that's where the cross-selling wouldn't occur?


MR. JUTRAS:  Or an opportunity through EnergyLink to advantage an affiliate.  That would be a concern.  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Sorry, I just had a couple more questions about the document.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Before we finish off.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I think the next reference was on page 7.


MR. JUTRAS:  Page 7.  Yes.


MR. CASS:  The last bullet on page 7.


Now, this is talking about the two highly recognized  brands, and you've told me that there has been a change in relation to at least one of those brands.


MR. JUTRAS:  I would say to both of those brands, quite frankly.  We have, as I said, the only market that we currently operate under the Union Energy brand is Toronto.  So all but the -- I guess what we've suggested here, the 87,000 customers, are operating under the Reliance brand at this point.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And in the second-last bullet on this page, there's an indication that: 

"Union Energy's rental water heaters are installed in approximately 70 percent of new homes in the Union Gas distribution territory."


Does that remain to be roughly the case now? 


MR. JUTRAS:  I would say it's roughly the case, yes.


MR. CASS:  All right.  


That completes my examination of the witness, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Mr. Chair.  


I'm not sure if Ms. Crain has some re-examination or if the Panel has questions.


Questions by the Board:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Jutras, would I be right that -- well, let me ask you.


You have this financing affiliate.  Is that where the greatest proportion of your revenue and profits come from?


MR. JUTRAS:  First of all, it's not an affiliate, it's part of our company.  It's one of the brands under which we operate.


MR. KAISER:  This is UEI.


MR. JUTRAS:  Financial.


MR. KAISER:  It's a separate subsidiary, I take it?


MR. JUTRAS:  No, it's not.  It's part and parcel of the overall Union Energy limited partnership.  It's not a separate entity in any way, shape, or form.


So, no, it's not the -- our core business is really around our water, rental water heater portfolio.  That's where the majority of revenues flow from.


MR. KAISER:  So you have a couple of concerns.  One is that ratepayer money would be used under the EnergyLink proposal by Enbridge, would set up a similar financing subsidiary and go after essentially the same customers?


MR. JUTRAS:  So the concern is really around EnergyLink being used as a platform to the advantage of an affiliate.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. JUTRAS:  Potentially.


MR. KAISER:  And we've heard in evidence that one of their proposals is to establish the, I guess it's the Enbridge Solutions or whatever it is, which will be a financing arm, not unlike your financing arm?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And it would go after the same customers, i.e., provide financing to people who wanted to, instead of purchase their water heater, put it on some kind of financing plan.


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And access the market through the same distributors that you do.


MR. JUTRAS:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  So that's head-on-head competition?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  And it's head-on-head competition as EnergyLink is with our Reliance brand, so we're going to be advertising in the marketplace that if you need a furnace, call us.  If you need air-conditioning, call us.  And we're going to be competing against Enbridge and EnergyLink, Enbridge saying:  If you need a furnace call us.  You know, the analogy I would use, it's like, in terms of increasing throughput, you know, if the Toronto Airport Authority, as an example, wanted to increase throughput, you know, running ads on the radio saying, if you want to go to New York for the weekend, and you want to go with a trusted and reliable airline, call us.  I see it as very much the same thing.  That's not the role of the Toronto Airport Authority, and I don't believe it's the role of Enbridge.


MR. KAISER:  Now, you were just referred to page 7 of the prospectus by Mr. Cass, and it was indicated that you  confirmed that presently you are getting 70 percent of the new homes in Union's territory.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  So using that as a market share.  What would your share of the Enbridge market be, if we just looked at water heaters?


MR. JUTRAS:  It's principally gas water heaters, and we have a sales force that is out dealing with builders, specifically, in the Toronto and Ottawa markets.


It is less -- like, in the areas where Direct operates and where Ozz are quite active, our market share is quite a bit less than 70 percent of the total market.


That's not to say that in those areas where, in the Union Gas franchise, Direct is active, as is Ozz.  I don't have the number top of mind, but I would say it's less than 20 percent.


MR. KAISER:  All right, so let's talk about Enbridge.  Let's say -- I'm just talking about water heaters.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yeah.


MR. KAISER:  You've got 20 percent of the market.  What's Direct have?


MR. JUTRAS:  I, I can't -- I don't know.


MR. KAISER:  You must have some idea.


MR. JUTRAS:  Well, they would have the largest percentage of it.


MR. KAISER:  Would you be second after Direct?  Or is there somebody else who's --


MR. JUTRAS:  Ozz.  Ozz is very active in Toronto as well.


MR. KAISER:  What, about same size as you?


MR. JUTRAS:  They're a smaller company but they really focus in on Toronto and Ottawa.  So I just don't have those total share numbers in front of me, but Direct is going to be the biggest player in the builder market here in Toronto.  I think we'd be second, and then maybe Ozz.


MR. KAISER:  Now, all of you, I suppose, go around and buy portfolios, you've mentioned that.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I think I got something from Toronto Hydro the other day just told me mine had been sold.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I don't know who bought it, maybe you.


MR. JUTRAS:  No, Consumers Water Heater Income Fund bought that.


MR. KAISER:  Anyway, we're talking about market structure here, and I'm trying to get some understanding of whether there's five companies that dominate this market or there's a hundred.  Would it be fair to say that there's five or six companies that provide 60 percent of these water heaters?  Give me some numbers.


MR. JUTRAS:  I would say that's probably pretty close in terms of rental.  Rental or lease options where customer ownership doesn't play it into because a lot of customers will buy a gas water heater but the biggest players I guess I would identify are Direct, Union, Ozz, MorEnergy, and there's one that -- I've just missed.  There's one more that I just can't...


MR. KAISER:  Those are the people that you regard as your competitors in Enbridge territory.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yeah, those competitors, plus the people that buy their water heaters, we’d love them to rent water heaters, of course.  So we work hard to try to influence builders to install rental water heaters in their homes.


MR. KAISER:  Is it essentially targeting the new home market?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  That's a significant growth opportunity for us in terms of getting the water heaters in.


MR. KAISER:  And I gather another piece of it is buying up existing portfolios from people like Toronto Hydro.


MR. JUTRAS:  I'm sorry, I missed that.


MR. KAISER:  The other piece of it is buying up portfolios.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.  Which are becoming more and more limited, a lot of them are bought up.


MR. KAISER:  And is that a significant part of your growth?


MR. JUTRAS:  It has been in the past, in terms of some of the acquisitions, but it's not -- acquiring the, you know, water-heater portfolios is becoming more and more difficult.  So our growth is really focussed on organic growth in new geographies, and the building market is a very important piece of that growth.


MR. KAISER:  Now, part of the evidence here, and part of the rationale for this EnergyLink program, as I understand it, at the extreme is that the market is disorganized and nobody knows who to go to, et cetera, et cetera.


The five or six companies that you've just listed which you say might account for 60 or 70 percent of the market.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes, and we are talking specifically about rental water heaters, I think?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. JUTRAS:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  That's the big piece of this business, isn't it?  Or not.

MR. JUTRAS:  Well, a lot of what we've heard about EnergyLink has been around furnace sales.  So is the market disorganized?  I don't see it.  I think customers clearly know where to go.  


I spend time with companies such as -- not specifically Ms. McKeraghan's company, but companies like that.  They're very well run companies.  They're great competitors.  I would not for a minute suggest that her company is disorganized nor does it create confusion in the marketplace.  


I don't ‑‑ I'm not aware of that confusion in terms of -- the real confusion that you see, and I think everyone in this room has experienced, is that there is confusion between what Direct Energy does and what Enbridge does.  You'll hear it all the time.  You'll hear it on the radio, in terms of ...


[Fire alarm sounds]


MR. KAISER:  Maybe we better stop until we figure out what this is.  


Mr. Cass, why don't we take the break?


MR. CASS:  Sounds like a good idea.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:22 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Jutras, you told us what your revenues were.  Did I get that correctly it was $320 million a year?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Now, just a few more questions.  In order to understand this market, this gas-appliance market, if I can call it that, would I be right that the two big elements are gas water heaters and gas furnaces?  Is that the bulk of the business?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And with respect to gas water heaters, you've said five firms account for about 60 percent of the market.  That would be Direct, yourself, Ozz, Morse?


MR. JUTRAS:  MorEnergy.


MR. KAISER:  MorEnergy.


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And who was the fifth?


MR. JUTRAS:  I just couldn't get it off the top of my head.  Sorry.


MR. KAISER:  Well, if you think of it, let me know.  If I go to the gas-furnace market, same thing?  Same five firms account for 60 percent, or what's the situation there?


MR. JUTRAS:  I think it's very different.  That's where you have all of these -- you have large players, multinationals, Direct Energy.  You have us, which is -- I would consider it a larger player.


Then you have a lot of smaller, independent contractors, some of which have appeared here.


So I would say it's more fragmented in terms of the sale of furnaces and air conditioners.  We are somewhat unique in our rental offer.  There's other ‑‑ MorEnergy has a rental program.  I believe Ozz has a bit of a lease program on HVAC equipment, but we're one of the larger ones on the rental of furnaces and air conditioners.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So the gas furnace market is more fragmented?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  You're in that business.  Direct is in that business.  Ozz in that business?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Mor is in that business?


MR. JUTRAS:  Yes, they ‑‑ as a financing option, Mor.


MR. KAISER:  By the way, do all three or four of you provide financing?


MR. JUTRAS:  Mor does.  There's a lot of people providing financing, you know, if I name a few, Wells Fargo, Citibank, GE.  The banks in general provide financing.  So it's not ‑‑ and I think we heard from one of the other witnesses that the market in terms of financing is pretty well served.  


We're very much a niche player in terms of we are very focussed on HVAC dealers in terms of our financing offerings.  It's pretty well served.


MR. KAISER:  So would it be fair to say there's no shortage of financing?


MR. JUTRAS:  In my view, there isn't.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.


Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Anything further?  Ms. Crain.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAIN:

MS. CRAIN:  Yes, just one quick question for clarification.  Mr. Cass was asking about Union Energy doing business under the trade name Union, and you said you were moving away from that; you were only doing that in one market, Toronto.


When are you scheduled to stop doing business under that Union brand completely?


MR. JUTRAS:  Completely by 2008, but we expect it's going to be sooner than that.  Our transition in Toronto should be completed, I would expect, by sort of late summer of this year.


MS. CRAIN:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe the Direct Energy witness or witness panel is up now.


MR. HOAKEN:  That's right.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Eric Hoaken for Direct Energy.  The panel will come forward, and, as they do, perhaps I can introduce them for the record. Our panel consists of two members.  The first is Mr. Lee Rose, who is the senior vice‑president of Home Services Canada, which is part of Direct Energy Essential Home Services, which is, in turn, a division of Direct Energy Marketing Limited.


And he's joined on the panel by Mr. Ric Forster, F-O-R-S-T-E-R, who is the director of process engineering for Direct Energy.


Mr. Rose is on the right and Mr. Forster is on the left.  We'll just start by saying, as did Ms. Crain, that our panel originally was going to consist of four members, but because of the settlement of some of the issues that those members were going to speak to, we've honed it down to just to these two gentlemen, and they're here to speak to the issue of bill inserts.


I'll start, if I may, with you, Mr. Rose.  Could you just outline for the Board ‑‑


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just a minute.  


I don't think the witnesses have been sworn before, have they?


MR. HOAKEN:  Oh, yes.  Good point.


DIRECT ENERGY - PANEL 1


Lee Rose; Sworn


Ric Forster; Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. HOAKEN:

MR. HOAKEN:  All right, thank you.


Start with you, if I may, Mr. Rose.  You are, as I said to the Board, the senior vice president of home services.  Could you just outline the nature of that position and your role and responsibilities?


MR. ROSE:  I oversee the entire home service business for ‑‑


MR. HOAKEN:  Excuse me.  Is your mike on, Mr. Rose?  You just need to press the green button.


MR. ROSE:  It is now.  Can you hear me now?


MR. HOAKEN:  I can, thank you.


MR. ROSE:  Senior vice president of home services.  I'm responsible for the entire Direct Energy Home Services Business, so for the fulfillment as well as the strategic planning and direction of the business.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  I'm I'll come back in a moment to ask you more about what the home services business consists of.


How long have you been with Direct Energy, Mr. Rose?


MR. ROSE:  18 months.


MR. HOAKEN:  And prior to that -- that takes us back, I take it, to about the fall of 2005; is that right?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And prior to that, then, what was your employment?


MR. ROSE:  In total, this year I'll be in the service industry for 31 years.  Prior to Direct Energy, I spent five years overseeing service in a vice-president role at Sears in the US.


Prior to that, a majority of my career was spent the service industry working for GE in the US.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.


Over to you, Mr. Forster.  You are, as I said, the director of process engineering with Direct Energy.


Could you outline for the Board what that role consists of?


MR. FORSTER:  The areas within my portfolio include process improvements, business integration, pricing, as well as billing.


MR. HOAKEN:  And how long have you been employed with Direct Energy?


MR. FORSTER:  I've been employed by what is now Direct Energy for approximately 18 years.


MR. HOAKEN:  Let's come back to you, then, Mr. Rose.


What does the home services business consist of?  What lines of business does that include?


MR. ROSE:  That includes residential and small commercial sales, service and installation of both heating, air-conditioning and ventilation equipment, air-quality equipment, water heaters, rental water heaters, service and installation, as well as home improvement, roofing, windows, siding, doors.  Protection plans is a big part of our business.  White goods, repair of kitchen and laundry appliances.  Air-duct cleaning.  That's essentially the business.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.


Going to the issue or segment of water heaters, does Direct Energy own a portfolio of water-heaters that it rents out to consumers?


MR. ROSE:  No, we do not.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And we've heard reference to the Consumers Water Heater Income Fund, which I believe it's called.  Could you just explain what the relationship is between Direct Energy, the entity that you're employed by, and the fund?


MR. ROSE:  Previously there was an equity interest or ownership of Direct Energy in the Consumer Water Heater Income Fund.  We have since sold our equity interest in the Fund late last year, about the third quarter of last year, and so Direct Energy no longer has an ownership or an equity interest in the income fund.


We do have an agreement, a long-term agreement, in place to provide fulfillment for service and installation of those rental water heaters.


MR. HOAKEN:  So --


MR. FORSTER:  So sorry, if I can just add in that we are also responsible for providing billing and call centre services for that portfolio as well.


MR. HOAKEN:  So, if I as a consumer was interested in renting a heater that was owned by the fund, then how would I go about doing that and with whom would I deal?


MR. FORSTER:  You would deal directly with Direct Energy, as we are the service provider for the Fund.


So there are a number of different channels by which you could come in to Direct Energy as a customer for a rental water heater.


You could contact us through our call centre.  You could visit us on the Web.  And we also have a strong builder channel as well.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And you heard the evidence earlier this morning of Mr. Jutras, about the business of Union Energy, and what I'm hearing is the difference is that although you're competitors in this segment, they own the water heaters that they rent, whereas Direct Energy does not; have I got that right?


MR. ROSE:  That's my understanding, yes. 


MR. HOAKEN:  And we heard a question late in the evidence of Mr. Jutras from the Board Chair about the Toronto Hydro portfolio.  Do you have any information about that portfolio and who, in fact, acquired it?


MR. ROSE:  Consumer Water Heater Income Fund has acquired the Toronto Hydro portfolio.


MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  And does the agreement that Direct Energy have with the Fund extend or will it extend to that portfolio?


MR. ROSE:  Yes. 


MR. HOAKEN:  Now, this is perhaps a question for you, Mr. Forster.  What are the numbers of customers, generally speaking, or roughly speaking, that Direct Energy has for the services and products that are the main part of its business, and how does it bill for those services and products?  


MR. FORSTER:  We have approximately 1.3 to 1.4 rental water heaters.  We provide over 500,000 customers with protection plans on HVAC equipment and other equipment.  We have, I believe, somewhere in the neighbourhood of 21,000, 22,000 HVAC installations a year.


These -- what's important to understand is that we bill for, mainly for the rental water heaters and for our protection plans, as well as for any one-off services that may be required for customers who are not a protection plan customer with us.


We bill for these products on the Enbridge bill currently.  The contract under which we bill that is currently held with CWLP and the operational arm of that is Accenture Business Services for Utilities.


And so we have an agreement with them currently.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And we've heard, or at least we know, that the billing settlement has been approved by this Board and that others are now going to be on that bill.  How, if at all, is that going to impact the billing arrangements of Direct Energy?


MR. FORSTER:  The billing arrangements for Direct Energy will change in that, instead of having one umbrella agreement with an out-source provider, we would be contracting directly with Enbridge Gas Distribution under a standard agreement for open bill access and the billing services that are provided there, which include bill print remittance, and collection services.


MR. HOAKEN:  And are inserts part of the billing services that Direct Energy has been contracting for up to this point?


MR. FORSTER:  We had previously been contracted under the CWLP agreement.  We are now contracting with EGD for bill inserts.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And in the prefiled evidence -- I don't think I need to ask you to turn it up, but in the prefiled evidence of Direct Energy, there was reference to the historical use, if I can put it that way, that Direct Energy made of inserts.


Are you able to help us understand how frequently Direct Energy has used inserts in the Enbridge bill envelope and what specific types of use it has made?


MR. FORSTER:  Previously, there has been seven insert stations available, what we refer to as "hoppers," for the Enbridge bill.


Under our arrangements with CWLP we had two reserve spots.


I believe that Enbridge Gas Distribution had two reserve spots, and that left three that were available or up for grabs, if you will, depending on what was going in the envelope or what changes may be occurring at any given month.  But generally we would have two bill inserts in that envelope, at times, up to three.


MR. HOAKEN:  And what types of restrictions has Enbridge Gas Distribution put on either the form or content of the inserts that you propose to put in the bill envelope?  


MR. FORSTER:  Well, I'll give you a recent example.


Recently our marketing department got a little overzealous with air quality or duct cleaning, I can't remember which, which actual product we were selling at that time.  And they had a creative whereby they had a family with gas masks on in the living room.


And I did not see this before it went to Enbridge, and Enbridge, rightly so, turned that away, and said that we were not able to put that in the envelope.


So that's just one example where things have been turned away.  If there are certain verbiage that is not agreed to, then it's at Enbridge's discretion as to whether we get to put any type of verbiage or message in the envelope.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And what I hear you saying is that discretion has been exercised reasonably or appropriately, in your view.


MR. FORSTER:  Yes, it has.


MR. HOAKEN:  What has Direct Energy done -- this is a question for either of you -- what has Direct Energy done in terms of the form or content of its inserts to minimize the potential for customer confusion, and particularly confusion that consumers may have about the relationship between Enbridge Gas Distribution and Direct Energy.


MR. ROSE:  We've made a significant investment to create brand distinction with the Direct Energy brand.


We have distinctive colours, what we believe is a distinctive logo, as well as disclaimers that we use to say that we are a separate entity from Enbridge.


MR. FORSTER:  I think further to that, we have many trucks on the road that are in Enbridge's territory, so that people easily recognize the Direct Energy logo, as well as our company.  There is a completely different look and feel to our marketing and our inserts within the envelope than what Enbridge has.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And you heard, I think, just before the break, Mr. Jutras in a question ‑‑ or at least in an answer to a question that the Chair had asked him made a comment about confusion between Enbridge and Direct Energy in the Enbridge franchise area.  


Are you able to offer any comment about the extent to which similar confusion exists in other franchise areas?


MR. FORSTER:  Well, I would think that because of how the businesses came about both within the Enbridge franchise territory, as well as the Union Gas territory, that it is merely my opinion that there would likely be some type of brand confusion between Union Energy and Union Gas, as well.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  Now, let's drill down a bit.  You told us about the use of inserts.  What types of inserts has Direct Energy put in the billing envelope in the past few years as part of this arrangement?


MR. ROSE:  We primarily use inserts -- they serve two purposes for us.


First, obviously, is to market our services, to sell and cross‑sell to customers our services.


The second is, we believe that -- bless you.  We believe that it's a very effective channel to communicate with our customers, so we use inserts to communicate vital information around everything as far as safety notifications of equipment, changes of terms and conditions in the types of products and services we offer.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  So in that second category, if I understand you correctly, you're not talking about trying to sell anything to the customers.  It's that your relationship requires that you pass on certain information to them?


MR. ROSE:  Absolutely correct.  You know, if we get a notification that there's an issue, for instance, with a water-heater product, some sort of a -- you know, a malfunction or a safety problem, or, you know, that type of thing, we have a change in our terms and conditions, as I said, it's a very effective way to notify customers.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Since May of 2006, the access that Direct Energy has had to the envelope has been on a non‑exclusive basis, and, in fact, we've heard evidence about pilot projects or programs that have led to other competitors being in the envelope.


Has Direct Energy continued to use the bill envelope during that non‑exclusive period, and is it still an effective means of communicating with your customers?


MR. FORSTER:  We have continued to use the ‑‑ use inserts in the envelope.  It still is an effective means by which we can communicate with our customers.


I would say that with more people in the envelope, the marketing value of it may have diminished, but from a communications perspective with our customers, it continues to be a vital channel for us.


MR. HOAKEN:  There is filed with the Board a partial settlement dealing with bill inserts.  I take it you have each seen that document?


MR. FORSTER:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And that is, just for the record, I believe, Exhibit N1.1.1, schedule D ‑‑ or, I'm sorry, appendix D.


Has Direct Energy signed on to the settlement, and, if so, why?


MR. FORSTER:  We have, because, as I've just mentioned and Mr. Rose has just mentioned, we feel that it is a vital communication tool for our customers.  We think that it is a very important part of a billing service.


I think that it's prevalent, whether it be in our industry or in any other industry, that when you are sending customers a bill that has your product charges on it, that you have the ability to communicate with them through inserts.


MR. HOAKEN:  Now, that explains ‑‑ thank you for that.  That explains why Direct continued to be interested in using inserts.  What other features of this particular proposal led Direct Energy to agree to it or sign off on it?


MR. FORSTER:  Well, just having been involved somewhat in the consultatives myself, and Mr. Matthews has been involved more than I have, but I believe that it does meet the requirements of the Board to have open access to the bill.


I think that it will produce ratepayer benefit.  I actually feel that the ratepayer benefit may be underestimated at this point.  I think that if we are to fill the hoppers, that the ratepayer benefit would increase.


MR. HOAKEN:  May I stop you on that, Mr. Forster?  We heard evidence, I believe from Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, from the company that the ratepayer benefit that she was projecting was in the order, I believe, of half-a-million dollars.  Was that your understanding of the evidence?


MR. FORSTER:  I believe that is -- if I recall, that's what she said.  I'm not sure whether that included the -- you know, just the ratepayer benefit versus the shareholder benefit, but I would be looking at it from an overall revenue perspective, if you will.  


I think if you're able to maximize the use of the envelope, then there could potentially be a greater value there.


MR. HOAKEN:  And have you done any assessment of what that value might be if the assumptions were different, for example, about the usage of the envelope or the hoppers?


MR. FORSTER:  Well, just what I would call a back‑of‑the‑envelope calculation.  I would think that if you filled the five hoppers that were available, not including the two that were to be reserved for some of the smaller players on the market - I believe it was the Peterborough contractor that Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward referred to - it would be somewhere in the order of about $3.8 million, if they were all at 4 cents, for example, for the minimum bill at the maximum distribution rate of 1.8 million.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right, thank you.


Now, I think I interrupted you.  You were going through the other features in the proposal that had led Direct Energy to sign off.  Was there anything else?


MR. FORSTER:  I think that because there is a feedback mechanism and a continued consultative process, if you will, to make sure that the envelope is being used effectively and giving access to players who require access, that there's definitely a mechanism for changes if they need to occur.


MR. HOAKEN:  Now, is it fair to describe this proposal as an interim proposal or interim solution?


MR. FORSTER:  I would have to categorize it as an interim solution.  I believe that it's the foundation or the precedent ‑‑ it sets a precedent for moving forward.


The reason that it's an interim solution, from my understanding, is because Enbridge is in the process of moving from their existing CIS to a new CIS, and, as such, will have greater functionality at that time.


MR. HOAKEN:  And, finally, what features of this proposal, in either of your views, ensure that the interests and concerns of all constituencies will get considered at the time when it's being proposed that this move from an interim solution to a final solution?


MR. FORSTER:  Well, I think in many ways it goes hand in hand with the open bill access agreement, in that there's going to be a review of the open bill access after two years, inserts ‑‑ or, sorry, by the end of 2008.


I think that there is plenty of room for stakeholder input, and we do have a problem resolution mechanism within that settlement.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are all of my questions in chief.  The panel is available for cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Hoaken.  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, it's probably fair if ‑‑ I'm actually not sure whether I'm friendly cross or not friendly cross, but I only have three questions, so maybe I should go first.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  First the unfriendly portion of my cross.  With respect to bill inserts, how is CIS relevant to bill inserts?


MR. FORSTER:  In terms of bill inserts, it depends on whether or not the new CIS will be able to offer more flexibility in terms of how narrowly, if that's the right word, it may target certain areas that smaller players may want to distribute their inserts to.


It may provide more hoppers.  I'm not sure.  It may provide more flexibility from an insertion perspective in terms of potentially size of the envelope or the size of the brochure that may go in there.


I don't know all of the functionality or the changes that will be there.  But I would assume that it would be different from the existing services somewhat, based on what's being provided today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Forster, the  company's evidence is that it can provide bill inserts on a postal block basis now with the existing CIS.  So why would the new CIS change that?


MR. FORSTER:  Perhaps, perhaps its doesn't, then.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the company's evidence is that it can change the number of hoppers just by getting a different bin.  And that has nothing to do with the CIS; isn't that right?


MR. FORSTER:  That may be so, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now -- I'll turn to my friendly cross.


First question is, you haven't given any direct evidence on EnergyLink but I understand that I can ask you questions about EnergyLink?


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The position of Direct Energy with respect to EnergyLink, are you opposed to it or do you support it?


MR. ROSE:  My feeling, speaking for, on behalf of the company, is very similar to Mr. Jutras.  Regarding EnergyLink, our feeling is that, A, that there are mechanisms today that would provide similar benefit.  We believe that it shouldn't be a program that's provided at ratepayer expense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Jutras asked questions about -- or made comments about Union Energy's view that they would be competing with the utility, in effect, from a brand point of view.


Do you have similar concerns?


MR. ROSE:  Yes.  Yes, for very similar reasons.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Turning to you, Mr. Forster, you said you were with Direct Energy and its predecessors for 18 years.  I take it at some point then that you were working for Enbridge.


MR. FORSTER:  That I was working for Enbridge?  Yes, I did.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When it was Consumers Gas.


MR. FORSTER:  When it was Consumers Gas, when it was Enbridge -- I can't remember what the predecessor to Enbridge Gas Distribution was, but there was one in there somewhere.  And I've also worked for Enbridge Home Services, which was then purchased by Direct Energy.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  During that time, were you involved in the Authorized Dealer Network?


MR. FORSTER:  No, I was not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have no more questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Cass.  Oh.  Mr. Buonaguro.   

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a couple of questions on bill inserts.


MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  You mentioned in your examination-in-chief that you used bill inserts to communicate with your customers with respect to safety issues and conditions of service change, things like that.


My understanding of the current proposal from Enbridge is that bill inserts won't be targeted to customers that you may have.  It's actually, I think, the only way you can target is by postal code.  Do you have a different understanding?


MR. FORSTER:  I can't comment on what Enbridge is going offer in their service.  I believe that they've offered that.  It can be, you know, across the board to everyone, to a 1.8 million distribution.  This is not something that we have previously had and that we would definitely want to take advantage of.  We had previously been able to distribute to our customers.


MR. ROSE:  And to that end, again, it's something that we have previously utilized as a mechanism to communicate.  It's an effective and efficient way to communicate with our customers, so just as we send, you know, a billing instrument for payment for a rental water heater, gives us the opportunity to send other information alongside that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So up until now, you've only been able to send inserts to your customers?


MR. ROSE:  No, that's not correct.


MR. FORSTER:  I believe that may be my understanding.  If that's different, I would have to check that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Perhaps we can get an undertaking as to whether you were able to only target your own customers before, and how that's changing, and whether or not, under the new proposal, your understanding is you can still target only your own customers or whether you can only -- I understand you can only target postal code areas and not your own customers, but perhaps you can verify which is true under what time scenario.


MR. ROSE:  Sure.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking J13.2.


UNDERTAKING NO. J13.2:  VERIFY whether or not, under 


the new proposal you can still target only your own 


customers or whether you can only target postal code 


areas and not your own customers


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I have one other question, series of questions.


Presumably if the Board doesn't approve bill inserts as a part of the service that Enbridge provides, you'll have to do something else.  Can you tell me what that would be?


MR. FORSTER:  In what respect?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, what would you substitute bill insert service through Enbridge with?  What would you do instead?  For example, I understood from the consultative that you can get the post office to distribute bill inserts for you.


MR. FORSTER:  So we could do things like postal walks.  We could mail letters.  We -- you know, as I've stated, we  feel that bill inserts is an integral part of a billing service.  And, as such, I mean, we'd look at everything from letters to different billing arrangements, potentially.


MR. ROSE:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, presumably you prefer to do it through Enbridge?


MR. FORSTER:  At this point in the foreseeable future, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me why?


MR. FORSTER:  Right now, we share the same billing engine.  And as such, we pay for that service through a third party, and we are using that one.  We have put a lot of effort into the consultatives in order to make the bill open to everyone.  So therefore, we have an investment in what we have now.


And that's where we were focussing our attention, was making the bill open.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The mike was turned off on me.  I won't say by who.


MS. CRAIN:  I didn't realize they were connected.  I'm sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Setting aside -- I understand that Direct Energy is in a particular situation since you've been using bill inserts for a number of years now, through Enbridge.


Can you perhaps for the moment take the position of a third party who's never used it before and is now faced with the choice of an insert service offered through Enbridge or doing something else like a postal -- post office service or some other way of distributing bill inserts.


Can you explain from the position of a company that does your type of business, why you would prefer to do it through Enbridge as opposed to some other way?


MR. FORSTER:  Well, one, I think that there's a single channel for distribution, if you will.  If Enbridge is offering a service that they can get into the homes of 1.8 million people at a reasonable market rate for that service, then it seems to be a good distribution channel.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are there any other reasons?


MR. FORSTER:  I'm not sure what you're getting at.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, for example, I would think that because people have to open their gas bill, and the insert will be with the gas bill, that's an advantage to a bill insert service; that your insert is in a package that people have to open, as opposed to I guess what we'd call value packs, which people don't have to open.


MR. ROSE:  Doesn't mean they have to read it, though.


MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  But it's the first step, you would agree with me.


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The first step is getting the envelope open as opposed to tossing it before you even open it.


MR. ROSE:  I don't know at the end of the day that we have any data that supports that or doesn't support that, so I don't know that we can speak to that.


I mean, I agree with you that you have to open your gas bill.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you not see any value in the fact that your bill insert is coupled with the gas bill in terms of a relationship with the utility?  


MR. FORSTER:  I would say that we've done a lot to try and distinguish ourselves from Enbridge.  I do think that it's an effective channel and that the distribution is there, but we have spent an appropriate amount of money on our branding.  As -- you know, in terms of getting our logo on the bill, it was to distinguish ourselves from Enbridge, to make sure that people knew that they were dealing with Direct Energy.  The look and feel of our inserts are very different from Direct Energy -- or, sorry, from Enbridge.


And, you know, I believe, as Mr. Rose said, we have disclaimers there that we are not part of the utility.


MR. ROSE:  Additionally, just to add to that, for the calls that we do get, based on folks who might be confused, that's an expense to us.  I mean, that's an expense on both sides, where people would call and think that we're Enbridge, and people call Enbridge and think that they're us.


So it's ‑‑ certainly there are positives.  It's not all positive.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm going to go through this in more detail with the Enbridge panel on bill inserts, but it might be useful to just mention it here.


I'm looking at Exhibit D1, tab 11, schedule 14, and perhaps we can get that on the screen.  I'm looking, in particular, at page 3.


So if you can go to page 3 -- sorry, back one.  That's the one.  Yes, that one.


Now, this is an Ipsos survey provided by Enbridge, and it's evidence with respect to bill inserts.  And I'm looking, in particular, at the third question on the page, which says:

"Inserts for natural gas appliance/equipment contractors or retailers/suppliers tell me about qualified suppliers that Enbridge recommends."


And the conclusion there is that 66 percent of customers agree that that's true.


Now, do you think it's valuable to a third party considering whether or not to put their insert into the bill with an Enbridge bill, that 66 percent of the people who look at that insert believe that the company is recommending them?


MR. FORSTER:  Sorry, can you state your question again?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you think -- as an HVAC company that's looking to put its bill insert somewhere, do you think that it's valuable that putting it into the Enbridge bill means that 66 percent of the people who get that bill insert will believe that Enbridge is recommending you?


MR. FORSTER:  I guess, first, you would have to believe the Ipsos‑Reid survey and its findings.  And I can't speak for any independent contractors, but I would think that that would be something that might motivate them.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Does it motivate Direct Energy?


MR. FORSTER:  I think we're in a different position since, you know, I mean, we've been in the envelope previously and we're not -- we're not disputing that.


So for us, it's just been a normal channel for us.  Others are coming into that.  Really, with bill inserts, it may be more about what we lose than what we potentially gain on a bill insert perspective.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now ‑‑


MR. FORSTER:  So you're asking me to act as and give the opinion of an independent contractor, which I'm not, in a totally different situation.


MR. ROSE:  I would tell you that as an individual consumer, when I open my gas bill, I don't believe necessarily that the company endorses who's ever in the envelope.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you talking about you opening your gas bill?


MR. ROSE:  I'm talking about as an individual consumer, that I would not unequivocally tell you that I believe that a company is endorsing everybody who advertises in the bill.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, are you talking about the Enbridge bill or are you talking about the --


MR. ROSE:  I'm talking about myself as an individual consumer.  I'm saying that when I open my gas bill, that I don't unequivocally believe that whoever the bill is from, whether it is a gas company, is endorsing the folks that are in the envelope.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you might be the other one-third?


MR. ROSE:  I might be.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Cass.  Oh, sorry, Ms. Crain.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAIN:

MS. CRAIN:  Mr. Rose, you were answering Mr. Shepherd's questions about EnergyLink.  I just have a follow‑up question.  Am I right that Direct has joined the EnergyLink program?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  We have.


MS. CRAIN:  And yet you are opposed to the program?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MS. CRAIN:  And why did you join?


MR. ROSE:  We felt that -- quite frankly, when we looked at joining versus not joining, we felt that if we didn't join, we would be at a disadvantage because we would potentially lose business that would come through EnergyLink.  So on the one hand, we felt that ‑‑ I don't want to characterize it as we didn't have a choice, but, on the other hand -- because we certainly did have a choice and we wilfully joined, but the other side of it was, from a competitive standpoint, we believed that we would lose business if we didn't join.


MS. CRAIN:  So you felt compelled to join from a business perspective?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.  Correct.


MS. CRAIN:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Cass.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Panel, if I might just start with a couple of questions about bill inserts, and for that purpose take you back to the partial settlement document.  That's Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix D.


In particular, if I could take you to page 3 of the document numbered paragraph 7.  The second sentence of numbered paragraph 7 says:

"In all months, two inserts would be reserved for parties wishing to purchase bill inserts in a limited geographic area based on price per insert bidding."


From the perspective of Direct Energy, what purpose is served by that provision of the partial settlement?


MR. FORSTER:  Sorry, in order to have two inserts reserved for other parties?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. FORSTER:  What purpose is served by Direct Energy?


MR. CASS:  From your perspective, what's the purpose of having that in the partial settlement?


MR. FORSTER:  I believe that this portion of the settlement was to ensure that it wasn't just large players that got into the envelope; that it would be ‑‑ that it would allow for smaller players.  I think as Ms. Lakatos-Hayward referred to it before, it was the contractor in Peterborough who only wants to distribute to his service area or her service area.


MR. CASS:  Do you think that it will be effective to accomplish that purpose?


MR. FORSTER:  I would think it would be.  I think that, you know, that's one of the reasons why there is ‑‑ there's stakeholder input and there is, you know, a follow‑up mechanism or a change mechanism, if you will, in order to address that if it's not working.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And that was actually my second question, was about paragraph 9 on the same page.  It says:

"If the revised bidding and allocation processes restrict access in three consecutive months or the number of customer complaints on inserts increases significantly ..."


Then certain things will happen.  Again, what's the purpose of that provision of the partial settlement?


MR. FORSTER:  Well, I think it's pretty self‑evident.  I mean, it is the problem resolution component of it, that I think that it makes sure that month over month, that smaller contractors do not get excluded from the bidding process.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  I wanted to move to some questions about Direct Energy's business, if you don't mind, and perhaps you can just update me on the nature of Direct Energy's business.


As I understand it, Direct Energy operates or did operate a number of businesses that were acquired from Enbridge by Centrica; is that right?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And these included an appliance sales business; is that right?


MR. FORSTER:  It included a retail store business, yes.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you.


A water heater rental business; right?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.  Yes.


MR. CASS:  A parts replacement program that at one time was called the HIP program?  I'm not sure what it's called now.  Is that right?


MR. FORSTER:  That's correct.


MR. ROSE:  HIP program refers to our protection plan program.


MR. CASS:  And was there a service business acquired, as well?


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. FORSTER:  How do you mean, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  You tell me.  I'm just trying to ‑‑


MR. FORSTER:  Are we talking about chargeable service?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. FORSTER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And what else?  Was there rentals of other equipment in addition to water heaters?  Was that acquired?


MR. FORSTER:  If I recall, there were rental furnaces at the time.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. FORSTER:  I think that was the extent to the rental business, was furnaces and ‑‑ well, mainly water heaters. There was a small number of furnaces at the time.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, is that more or less the group of businesses that were acquired?  Have I missed anything?


MR. FORSTER:  There was a home improvements business that was running as well.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, to come to the retail appliance business that we've already referred to.  That business sold natural-gas ranges; right?


MR. FORSTER:  Yes, it does.


MR. CASS:  And natural-gas dryers.


MR. FORSTER:  Yes, it did.


MR. CASS:  Natural-gas barbeques.


MR. FORSTER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Natural-gas fireplaces.


MR. FORSTER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Was there other natural-gas equipment and appliances sold through that retail business or have I mainly covered it?


MR. FORSTER:  I think you've covered the majority of it.


MR. CASS:  And I believe the retail outlets, they were all closed around 2002 or early 2003; is that right?


MR. FORSTER:  It was some time after the acquisition was made by Centrica of Enbridge Home Services.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  And there was another important retailer of gas appliances called Home and Rural Appliances.  Does that sound right?


MR. FORSTER:  I wasn't, shall we say, as involved in those areas at that time.  So I remember Home and Rural.  Whether they sold gas appliances or not, I don't know.


MR. CASS:  All right.  But it went out of business?


MR. FORSTER:  I don't hear the commercials so I assume so.


MR. CASS:  All right.  And where I'm going with this is to suggest to you that the retail sale of natural-gas appliances has become much more fragmented than it used to be in the previous days?  Right?


MR. ROSE:  I don't know if that's fair to say.  I think it's been overtaken by some of the big-box stores that are in competition with Sears with the entrance of Home Depot into the Canadian marketplace, as well as the pending entrance of Lowes Home Improvement.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And I didn't mean to suggest that there weren't entrants.  I'm just suggesting with this number of entrants that it's more fragmented than it used to be.  Right?


MR. ROSE:  I don't know if you would say that.  I think we can make the case that it's becoming more consolidated with more of the big-box stores selling more of the products.


MR. CASS:  I see.  So the number is actually coming down, is it, the number of people selling natural-gas appliances?


MR. ROSE:  I think the face of the market is changing.


MR. FORSTER:  I don't know whether or not it's coming down or whether it's going up.  It's not an area that we necessarily look into.


The reason that the stores were closed is that they were not profitable.  It doesn't mean that, you know, we were in competition with big-box retail stores that were able to provide similar products at a lower price than what we were at.  And it just wasn't profitable.  I don't think that that indicates that there is less, you know, less gas appliances being sold.


Now, what the numbers are, I don't know.  I haven't looked into it, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Fair enough, and I wasn't actually asking that question.  Maybe let me try it this way.


There's no longer as distinctive a source for natural-gas appliances as there was when that retail business was operated; right?  


MR. FORSTER:  I don't know that.


MR. ROSE:  And again, I see it differently with the entrance of the big-box stores so I, again, think that although there might be consolidation to your point about the marketplace being fragmented, I think that they're just being sold by different -- you know, the landscape is changing.


MR. CASS:  But these big-box stores you're referring to, they carry a wide, wide range of products; right?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And that was not something that the retail-gas appliance stores, they didn't have anything near that range of products that they were selling; right?


MR. ROSE:  I wasn't employed by Direct Energy at that time, so...


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, just on the water-heater rental   side, you would agree with me, I take it, that one thing that you're seeing in the business is that there is an increasing incidence of people wanting to buy rather than own a water heater? MR. ROSE:  In our portfolio, I would say that we haven't seen that.  When you say increasing, I mean, I don't know that we've seen a material impact there.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Whether it's material or not, do you not see things moving in that direction of people being more -- looking more at buying rather than renting?


MR. ROSE:  My experience tells me that there are -- the competitive forces in the marketplace, again, like Home Depot will come into the marketplace to suggest that customers should own rather than rent.  I think that they've been frustrated in their attempts to do that, based on, you know, my experience.


MR. CASS:  But there are competitors out there trying very hard to do that.


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And to the extent that customers do look at buying rather than renting, that's when, up front, there appears to be a disadvantage of gas opposite electric, right, because of the upfront costs?


MR. ROSE:  Well, again, I certainly don't want to be argumentative.  I think that if you're asking, would you replace an electric water heater with a gas water heater -- is that what you're saying?


MR. CASS:  No, no.  I'm saying to the extent that people are looking at buying.


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Rather than renting.


MR. ROSE:  Right.


MR. CASS:  They're faced with a higher upfront cost for gas as opposed to electric, if they're going to buy?


MR. ROSE:  Well, again, most of the -- most of the channels that you have to purchase offer financing, so the upfront cost becomes less of an issue in most of those cases.


MR. CASS:  All right, so they need financing; they need a solution to address that issue of the upfront costs of gas versus electric?


MR. ROSE:  Well, you could put it on your credit card.  I mean, not everybody offers financing.  But again, in my experience, I don't think that the buying versus the renting is -- the decision is made strictly by the upfront costs.


MR. CASS:  Yes; no, no.  Again, I'm asking you about buying electric versus buying gas.


MR. ROSE:  Mm-hm.


MR. CASS:  That there is a higher upfront cost for people buying a gas electric water-heater that has to be addressed. 


MR. ROSE:  This goes back to what I thought was the question before, okay, which is gas versus electric.  When you say there's a higher upfront cost, just to clarify, you're saying there's a higher upfront cost to purchase gas than to purchase electric; is that what you're asking me?


MR. CASS:  Yes, both for the water heater itself and for installation.


MR. ROSE:  And are you asking in a new home or in retrofit?


MR. CASS:  I'm asking in a new home.


MR. ROSE:  I would say that the gas product is more expensive than the electric product.  However, from an installation standpoint, I think it's important to understand that electric water heater has additional electrical requirements that a gas water heater, for instance, would not.  So there is additional cost on the electrical side versus on the gas side, where you would have to pipe the gas to the water heater.


So there's costs there versus on the electrical side, where you need to run a 220-volt electric wire to it which you wouldn't ordinarily.


MR. CASS:  Right.  But overall, the upfront costs are higher for gas than for electric?


MR. ROSE:  I would say that's probably true.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Would I be right in thinking that Direct Energy is on a number of different locator services for manufacturers?


MR. ROSE:  Mm-hm, yes.


MR. CASS:  And that would include what manufacturers?  


MR. ROSE:  I don't know the answer to that.


MR. FORSTER:  I don't know.


MR. CASS:  You have no idea what any of the locator services are that Direct Energy is on?


MR. ROSE:  I couldn't answer with confidence as far as who they were.


MR. CASS:  All right.  But what these locator services Do, or have the potential to do, is generate leads for Direct Energy?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And if I understand correctly, when a lead is generated Direct has a representative called in an energy management consultant to follow-up on the lead; is that right?  


MR. ROSE:  This would be for the installation of a furnace or an air-conditioning product; correct.


MR. CASS:  Yeah.  And what the energy management consultant is does it takes that lead and goes to the home of the prospective customer to try to make a sale?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And where that energy management consultant is dealing with a lead from a manufacturer - you haven't given me any examples, but let me choose Carrier as a possible example - that person could be competing with two or three other Carrier dealers to close the sale; right?


MR. ROSE:  Absolutely; correct.


MR. CASS:  And so what that person has to do is make the sale in the home?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And to do that, Direct Energy would like to be able to differentiate itself from its competitors; right?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And I believe that Direct Energy, in fact, has some fairly significant initiatives to put its name out in front of people.  For example, the naming of the national trade centre in Toronto is the Direct Energy Centre.


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And those of us who go to the Air Canada Centre get to see some significant exposure of Direct Energy there; right?


MR. ROSE:  We hope you can't miss us.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And that differentiation, I take it, would be something that the energy management consultant would hope to be able to make use of when trying to make the sale in the home?


MR. ROSE:  We hope so.


MR. CASS:  Right.  Now, one thing that struck me, and correct me if I am wrong, is, when one looks at, say, the Yellow Pages, what Direct Energy distinctively seems to do in its advertising is it uses its own name.  It does not use the name of any manufacturers or other companies in its -- for example, its Yellow Pages advertising, right?  

MR. ROSE:  Absolutely correct.


MR. CASS:  And that's opposed to some of your competitors, for example, who, in their Yellow Pages ad, will name manufacturers that they install equipment for?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And so Direct Energy, in fact, as I see it - and correct me if I am wrong - does seem to have a very distinctive marketing strategy to get out its own name unassociated with other names, such as manufacturers?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  Thank you. 


Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Millar, anything?  Mr. Hoaken?


MR. HOAKEN:  No, thank you.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rose, I'm just following up on an earlier question from Ms. Crain.  You had mentioned that Direct Energy felt compelled to become a member of EnergyLink, and you still plan on using your bill inserts as a service going forward.


Will you be using the EnergyLink logo on co‑branding on your materials going forward?  


MR. ROSE:  No, sir, we won't.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  And the reason for that?


MR. ROSE:  To the point that Mr. Cass made before is that our marketing strategy is to develop and market the Direct Energy brand by itself, exclusively, versus any other marketing or any other brand.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So the business risk that you felt you faced by not joining was more of the deferral element of this?


MR. ROSE:  We thought that we would lose out on potential leads for business that would go to other contractors, because we weren't represented on EnergyLink.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And to the extent that you've decided not to use the EnergyLink logo, you feel that that's a strong connection that would dilute your market distinction?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.  And to follow up, again, to the point that Mr. Cass made, we deliberately do not use any other manufacturers, for instance, Carrier, TRANE, et cetera, even though we do carry those products and represent as dealers of those products.  We do not market or advertise those.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Mr. Hoaken?  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  It's probably appropriate to take our lunch break.  I think when we come back, Mr. Cass, will we have the Enbridge bill inserts panel?


MR. CASS:  Yes, we will, Mr. Millar.  And perhaps it would be just appropriate to address where we're going.


We have had a panel to address rate implementation more or less on standby for some time awaiting the conclusion of the bill inserts panel.  I don't know whether there's an expectation that we might get to them this afternoon and that they should be here?


MR. KAISER:  Do you have any ‑‑ I think, Mr. Shepherd, how much do you have for the next panel?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I actually have very little on bill inserts, maybe nothing.  But this is the same panel that deals with EnergyLink and they have subsequently filed additional information on which I do want to cross‑examine.  And I know Mr. Warren also has some cross‑examination on that material.


That could easily be a couple of hours, I would guess.  I probably am 30 to 40 minutes on that, and I don't know about Mr. Warren, but I know he had something there.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Girvan, do you know how much Mr. Warren might have?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, we have some follow‑up questions on the EnergyLink issues, in addition to which we probably have about a half an hour on bill inserts.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Buonaguro, do you have anything left on this?


MR. BUONAGURO:  On bill inserts, I have about an hour.


MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Cass, I think all we can do is play it by ear.  I hope to get to them.  We are anxious to see if we can wind this up tomorrow.  We're prepared to sit late today if we have to.


All right, Mr. Millar.  We'll take the luncheon break. Before I do, the panel has reviewed the supplementary settlement proposal on issue 6.3 and accepts it as filed.  So you can add that as appendix E to the settlement agreement.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  We'll come back at 1:30.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m. 

--- On resuming at 1:42 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  The Board will recall, I think, that in relation to the issue regarding corporate cost allocations that parties were awaiting a final report from the consultant.  The consultant is Myers, Norris & Penny.  The final report is now available and has been provided to all of the parties and provided to the Board for filing.


It's a fairly large package, with a cover letter dated March 1, today, on top of it.   I think everyone should have that.


MR. KAISER:  What number is this, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  It has the exhibit number written this the cover letter, I believe.  It's Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1, a report plus appendices.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Now, what are we to do with this, Mr. Cass?  Are we going to have evidence on it or what?  


MR. CASS:  Well, it's for filing with the Board.  I think Mr. DeRose did want to address the Board on where this issue is going.


As the Board will recall, this is a remaining corporate cost allocations issue that has not yet been settled.  The parties were not able to settle it because the final report was available.


I haven't been directly involved myself, but it's my understanding that the parties intend to try to resolve the issue, and I think it's in that regard that Mr. DeRose is here, because he had some comments he wanted to make to you.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Mr. DeRose.


MR. DEROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  As Mr. Cass has not been directly involved in the consultative, I was asked if I could provide an update to the Board on this issue.


The report which is now filed before you, although it has been circulated to the consultative members, it is for the remainder of the intervenors, which is for the majority of the intervenors, the first time that they have seen this would be today, or I believe it was circulated late last night to the intervenors.


The consultative is still working towards settlement.  Now that the report is finalized, we are hopeful that it will go a long way towards settlement, but obviously we can't promise anything.  We are working diligently towards it.  


What I did want to provide, a heads-up to the Board in terms of the filing of this evidence, is that if settlement is not reached in the near future, there is a possibility - and assuming that Enbridge does want this matter to be heard in this hearing, which I believe they do - there will have to be some procedural issues discussed and direction asked from the Board.


I would anticipate that we would need some form of IR process.  In all likelihood it could be in a condensed form, perhaps the same way that open bill was conducted, in terms of a half-day Technical Conference, but some form that parties are allowed to seek clarification and ask information requests on that report.  And we would also anticipate if it is not settled that we would file a responding expert report.


We do have an expert that has been working with us, so we would not be starting anew.  We have an expert that has been providing guidance for the intervenors within the consultative.  And that same expert would prepare a report.


MR. KAISER:  Am I right that this will not affect rates in this case?


MR. DEROSE:  You are.  The amount for 2007 rates has already been settled and approved.  So the remaining issue is the methodology --


MR. KAISER:  Methodology.


MR. DEROSE:  -- itself.  And so, in terms of if where you are going with the question is can you decide the other issues that have impact on rates without deciding this one, in our submission, the answer would be yes.  It has no impact on this.


MR. KAISER:  Or as a variant to that we could proceed with argument and so on with respect to the main case.  We could hive this off in the event that it doesn't get settled and provide a decision on that as a separate matter.  Is that right, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Yes, I believe that is correct, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Well, let's work on that basis.  Of course, you'll be working away trying to settle this?


MR. DEROSE:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  What I would propose, if it's satisfactory to the Board, is, as I understand it, after tomorrow, the next hearing date I believe is the 22nd of March.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. DEROSE:  What I would propose, and I have talked to the company about it, is that by the 22nd we're viewing that as not a hard deadline but that's the date that we're working towards to know whether we either have a settlement or are going to have a settlement, or whether this will go to hearing, as best we can.


MR. KAISER:  One of the things we're thinking about, and we'll come back to you after the break, is, assuming that we finish up tomorrow with the exception of this matter - and there may be this customer care matter which is also outstanding, as I understand it, not yet settled - we could provide a schedule relating to argument, and that process might finish with an oral reply argument sometime around the 22nd or 23rd.  And if we needed hearing dates at that point for these two additional matters, we could deal with them then.  That would at least allow us to move forward with the argument on the matters that we will have heard up until the close of business tomorrow.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, customer care, I think the amount in swing is somewhere, $25 million or $30 million of revenue requirement.  Depending on whether that is settled or how that is resolved, that may affect the sorts of final positions we would want to take on other issues because it will obviously affect the overall rate impact of the case.


So, whereas I understand that RCAM can be set aside because it's not really on the critical path to setting rates, I think customer care is on the critical path, and I wonder until we’ve figured out whether that's going to be resolved whether it may be better to defer a decision about when argument should be done.


MR. KAISER:  If customer care is going to cost X or Y, whatever it is, why would that affect things like EnergyLink? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It wouldn't affect EnergyLink, but it would affect degree days, for instance.  

The position we would take on degree days may be different, depending on whether customer care goes one way or the other way.


MR. KAISER:  What's the connection between customer care and degree days?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, there's no direction connection.  The connection is that they produce a result in rates.  My clients are concerned about what their rates are.


MR. KAISER:  I understand that.  And I understand that customer care could affect rates, but we could proceed with argument on everything else but customer care.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And we may be advised by our clients to take different positions on things like degree days depending on the status of the rates otherwise; that is, what's the end result going to be for the client.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, do you have something on this?


MR. WARREN:  Just one practical question, sir.  You indicated you would be talking about the timing of argument after the break.  Do you want us to indicate to Board Staff between now and the end of the break what our views are on the schedule?


MR. KAISER:  What we'll do, if it's --


MR. WARREN:  What I'm trying to do, sir, is I'm trying to recover the normal heart rate after you mentioned one tentative schedule a moment ago.


MR. KAISER:  No, we were just going come up with a draft schedule for your comments and see if it accommodates your schedules.  I know this is March break period and all of those things.  We'll take all of that into account and make whatever adjustments you need.


We just didn't want to waste 22 days in March, if we could avoid it.


In any event, that's that.  Let's proceed with this panel, Mr. Cass.


MR. DEROSE:  Mr. Chair, just one more request on my part.  If I can now be excused, I'm not going to have any cross-examination.  And I believe that there is an ice storm coming so I will try and beat it.


MS. GIRVAN:  It's here.


MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  You may be here for the week.  Thank you.


All right, sir, Mr. Cass.  Over to you.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, you will probably recall that I actually did examination-in-chief of this panel both on EnergyLink and on bill inserts, so I have done that.  It was mentioned to me by one of the other parties at one time that they might appreciate having the panel just explain the partial settlement on bill inserts.  I haven't even discussed that with the panel, so I'm even putting them on the spot a little bit by raising that.  But, subject to that point that someone else mentioned to me, I didn't have anything that I intended to do with this panel before the cross‑examinations continue.


MR. KAISER:  I think it would help us if your panel wouldn't mind, so that we have a clear understanding on what the outstanding issue is on this bill insert matter.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 7; RESUMED


Paul Green; Previously Sworn


Kerry Lakatos-Hayward; Previously Sworn 


Stephen McGill; Previously Sworn


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. CASS: (CONTINUED)

MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  The partial settlement for the bill insert is found at Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix D.  And if it's helpful, what I propose to do is just go over the main aspects of the partial settlement and I'll attempt to, from the company's understand -- outline what the outstanding issues are, but certainly it will 

be -- to the other parties, it will come clearer evidence in their questions, as well.


The proposed bill insert settlement really splits the issue into an interim and a comprehensive settlement.  The understanding is that what we're proposing here is an interim settlement to cover to the end of 2008, at which point we would bring forward a bill insert service offering application.  That that application would include a detailed report explaining or providing our experience with the interim solution, available consultant reports with respect to the costing and pricing, results of the customer communication activities and their customer or industry surveys, and also, based on that, a continuation of minutes and reports of the stakeholder committee; and also, overall, whether the company proposes that the billing insert service should continue and on what terms.


The pricing for the service that is proposed will average 4 cents a bill insert, and the reference for that is D1, tab 11, schedule 27, I believe, in that we did set out a monthly price schedule, and that this partial settlement sets out that the company agrees to reduce the minimum bid for bill inserts by 1 cent, resulting in the average charge of 4 cents.


In this, the original proposal of the company, there was a provision in there that gave parties who signed on to a billing and collection service a right of first refusal.  And this bill insert settlement sets out that that concept is no longer there.


As alluded to, the costing and pricing study that -- the company, in consultation with the stakeholder group, would bring forward or hire a consultant to assist in determining a market price and review and analysis of the incremental and fully allocated costs of the service for the new CIS, and that the cost of the service would be covered in the open bill service deferral account.


The start‑up costs associated with the service is fairly de minimus at about $153,000, and that will be recovered in revenues from the service.


With respect to the ratepayer benefit, what the partial settlement sets out is that the net margin from the program would be shared 50/50 between the ratepayer and the shareholder.  


A couple of other important points that are set out in the partial settlement under item 7 is that in order to address some concerns by the ratepayer groups, we were cognizant of the fact that we wanted to ensure that customers did not confuse third‑party bill inserts with the company's bill inserts, particularly in the area of safety.


And so in that regard, we have agreed to limit the number of external inserts to five, when safety inserts are scheduled.


In addition, another concern that was addressed by a party -- or that a third party had was that whether the way that the service was structured may favour larger companies than small companies.  So what 7 sets out to you is to reserve two inserts, if you will, for parties who wish to purchase bill inserts in a limited geographical area, and that the mechanism to do that would be on a price-per-insert bidding.


Paragraph 8 sets out the stakeholder input, in that we would establish a stakeholder committee with users of the service, as well as ratepayer and industry representatives, and that that committee would meet from time to time to consider changes to the rules, and if there were any material changes to the service, that they would be reviewed with the committee, and then brought forward to the Board to determine if their approval is required.


The stakeholder committee would also be solicited for the company's proposed communication plans, which I believe is set out in D1, tab 11, schedule 30.  The intention there of that communication plan is to put in place a very comprehensive plan to explain to our customers what the purpose of the third-party bill inserts are, how to recognize or distinguish Enbridge Gas Distribution bill inserts from other inserts, and also to explain things like an opt-out clause that they would have if they did not wish to receive the marketing inserts.


Paragraph 9 of the settlement agreement talks about a problem-resolution mechanism, whereby if the allocation processes restricts access in three consecutive months or that there is an increase in the number of customer complaints in the first two months of operation, the stakeholder committee would convene to address the problem.  And if the problem could not be resolved within two additional months, the insert service would be discontinued until the problem is addressed.


Just moving on to the next section, very similar to the billing and collection services settlement agreement, we put similar language in with respect to affiliate participation.  And in that regard, the intent here is to implement such measures to ensure that there is not customer confusion and/or any unfair marketing advantage as a result of any association with the utility.  And there it sets out how the affiliate can and cannot use the billing insert service.


Section 11, the EnergyLink relevance.  Again, what this sets out is that if the Board in this proceeding approves the EnergyLink program, the parties agree that whether a company is an EnergyLink participant or not will not affect whether the company can use the insert service or the rules or conditions under which this service can be used, and that's subject to the restriction on the use of the Enbridge name and the logo.


And also there is some language in there for other parties to -- that this agreement is not construed as a settlement with respect to the EnergyLink service.


And then the final major component is set out in 13, commodity marketing.  And the parties to the partial settlement agree that commodity bill inserts and marketing will not be allowed in the billing envelope unless EGD or one of its affiliates receives OEB approval to promote and/or market system gas commodity, in which case retailers, marketers and vendors would be allowed to promote or market their commodity through the insert service.


And that is, hopefully, a brief summary of the partial settlement agreement.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Who's going to start?


MR. MATTHEWS:  I wonder if I could start.  I apologize. There was one thing -- pardon?  My mike is on.  Sorry.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MATTHEWS:

There was one undertaking that this panel provided when we asked some questions, and I understand they have an answer now but just haven't filed it.  I wonder if they could provide the quantum.  We were asking what the maximum value would be to ratepayers of the envelope being full with the maximum number of inserts.  

MR. KAISER:  I think I heard that this morning, but in any event, do you have an answer?


MS. LATAKOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, we do.  We did go back and undertake that calculation, and the ratepayer benefit associated with the maximum use of the envelope as set out in the partial settlement is $1.8 million.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And is that based on the 50/50 sharing?


MS. LATAKOS-HAWYARD:  That's correct.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So if the 50/50 sharing wasn't in place, that would be doubled?


MS. LATAKOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Matthews.  Mr. Warren.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:


MR. WARREN:  Panel, as I indicated last week, I have questions arising from an undertaking response on EnergyLink, and with your permission, if I could deal with that briefly.


To begin that, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, if you could turn up the transcript, please.  If the system could produce the transcript for volume 10, it was on February 13th, beginning at page 137.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Sorry, so that I'm clear, are we talking about bill inserts or EnergyLink?


MR. WARREN:  EnergyLink, Dr. Lakatos-Hayward, because last week I had follow-up questions on this.


MR. CASS:  Sorry, we didn't appreciate that there would be EnergyLink questions.  There is a different EnergyLink panel, the only difference being that Ms. Cain is on the panel.


MR. WARREN:  I don't have any questions for Ms. Cain, and I thought I made it clear that I did have this follow-up questions on the --


MR. KAISER:  Yes, I understood.  I think Mr. Shepherd does as well.  Do we need Ms. Cain for either of you?


MR. WARREN:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Apparently not.


MR. CASS:  We appreciated there were follow-up questions, sir.  We thought we were doing bill inserts and then EnergyLink, but apparently not.


MR. WARREN:  I'm happy to follow whatever order is comfortable with Mr. Cass.  I don't have any questions for Ms. Cain, so I'm in his hands as to how you would prefer to do it.  I can do bill inserts and then wait until Ms. Cain is here, if that makes you more comfortable.  It doesn't really matter to me.


MR. CASS:  She is available to join the EnergyLink panel.  She’s probably listening in right now.


MR. KAISER:  I don't think either of these counsel require her attendance, so she can stay home.  But I think Mr. Warren wants to proceed first with EnergyLink.  Is there a problem with that?  


MR. WARREN:  Not that I know of, Mr. Chair.  Again, I don't know how we can know for sure that Ms. Cain would have nothing to contribute to the answers to these questions, but assuming that's the case, then I guess we can proceed.


MR. KAISER:  Where is she physically, Mr. Cass?  Is she in the building?


MR. WARREN:  She's on the 19th floor.   I imagine she's listening in.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't you get her.  I don't want to deprive her of this.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, and other parties, while we’re waiting, if I can ask, we're kind of a long way from everyone in this room – we’re in the outer orbit of the room – and with the circulation of the air and whatnot we’re having a lot of trouble hearing people speak so we're missing some of the evidence references.  If I could ask everyone to ensure they speak as loud as they can into the mike.  And perhaps, Mr. Warren, if you could provide that transcript reference again?  


MR. WARREN:  It's volume 10, beginning at page 137, and continuing to page 140.  It's the transcript from February 13th.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, why don't you start.  

Ms. Cain will join us momentarily.


MR. WARREN:  Looking at page 137, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, I asked the question, beginning at line 13, and I quote:

"May I assume that in order to persuade Enbridge Inc. that this was a valuable service that they should make available, through you, to HVAC members, that you would have presented to them some business case in support of the proposition that they should make the service available; is that not fair?"


And your answer, beginning at line 19, was: 

"I don't believe there was a business case   that was presented to Enbridge Inc. in regards to this, no."


And then in the following half a dozen lines, I expressed some skepticism about that.  And I returned to the topic at page 139, line 6.  I said:

"I'm asking, what did you tell them” - meaning Enbridge Inc. – “or give them in order to make available a financing program?"


And after conferring, your answer, beginning at line 9, was:

"We were not aware of any specific document  to that effect.  There were probably discussions at a senior level about these kinds of opportunities that is available in the marketplace, but I can't speak as to what was the thought process for Enbridge Inc. or its specific employees."


And I then said:

“Did you have those conversations with  somebody at Enbridge Inc.?

"And your answer was:

"We had some general conversations with Enbridge Inc."


Now, the following exchange thereafter between your counsel Mr. Cass and me as to what would be produced, and then ultimately, at the direction of the presiding Chair, an undertaking was given, Undertaking J10.9.  If you could turn that undertaking up, please.  


Do you have it, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward?  Do you have it?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Oh, yes, sorry.


MR. WARREN:  Now, this undertaking says to check for written submissions by Enbridge Gas, either Enbridge Solutions or Enbridge Inc., regarding financing for the EnergyLink program.  Now, the text, which I won't read completely, but under the heading "Chronology," it indicates that there were discussions through 2005 with respect to the bill financing options, and these culminated - and I'm quoting about halfway through that first full paragraph of the response:

“This effort culminated with a presentation in December 2005 to justify proceeding with a financing program to support EnergyLink.  The plan was prepared by Kerry Lakatos-Hayward and Ericka Lontoc of EGD, and Olga Shpor-O'Dell of EI."


Olga is Ms. Shpor-O'Dell, if I have mispronounced her name.  But when you indicated that you had had some general conversations - I'm going back to page 139 of the transcript - you had some general conversations with Enbridge Inc., I'm going to suggest to you that your undertaking response suggests that you had something more than general conversations with somebody at Enbridge Inc.; in fact, you co-operated with them in the preparation of a plan.  Is that not fair?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:   I would agree with you that we co-operated with them in a plan, and perhaps I think it's relevant to look at our reply argument on page 179 from the 2006 rate case because I think it makes it very clear in that regard as to what the intention was of this co-operation.  And I'll just read the reply argument from the company with respect to the third-party bill access.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, is that relevant to my question?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Absolutely it is.


MR. WARREN:  My question was, I take it, that notwithstanding that you've said that you only had general  conversations with EI, in fact you had co-operated with them in preparation of a plan, and your answer was yes.


Now, can you help me, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, before you get to it on how what you argued in some case a couple of years ago helps understand that exchange?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think it's very relevant because it sets up the context.  When we came forward in the 2006 rate case, the open bill or access to the bill was an issue at hand.  At that time, our work with ABSU and Enbridge Inc. indicated that it was going to cost three-and-a-half million dollars to open up the bill, and that our belief was opening up the bill was an important part of the utility's industry-inclusive channel strategy to facilitate natural-gas solutions for customers.  What we were attempting to do was to find a way that was not going to cost that much amount of money, working with Enbridge Inc., to find a way to accommodate that.


I think it's relevant that -- and the paragraph reads,

"Nonetheless, the company remains committed to working..."


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  I wonder if we could have the reference for that?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, it's page 179 of the company's reply argument in the 2006 rate case.  And unfortunately there are no line numbers.  But at the bottom of page 179: 

"We have clearly indicated that the company  remains committed to working with Enbridge Inc. to find creative interim solutions so that a billing program can be brought forward as soon as possible.  Such interim measures could include a third-party Enbridge-branded financing program under which the third party could provide all back‑office support, including generation of a separate Enbridge Inc. bill.  They could also include introduction of an on‑bill financing program for 2008 if the business case can be made in support of this alternative.  The company proposes to provide an update in its next rate case regarding the status of its efforts to work with EI to find interim solutions."


And then, subsequent to that, we did get the rate case decision and it did clarify that billing services was a regulated service and that the company needed to bring forward a comprehensive proposal for open bill access to the bill.


And then, subsequent to that, as set out in the chronology, the Enbridge financing program was ‑‑ a decision was made to move that to EDMSI, and that was a continuation to develop that initiative.  After that juncture, EGD staff was not involved in the financing initiative.


But I think it's very clear that the intention of that activity in 2005 was to support Enbridge Gas Distribution's efforts to open up the bill and to support the company's industry‑inclusive efforts to promote added load.


MR. KAISER:  I think Mr. Warren's concern is, on February 13th, you told him that you had some general conversations with somebody at Enbridge, and then what we now see produced is J10.9, as something more than a general conversation.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, I could appreciate that, and there certainly has been a lapse of time.


What I can say is that the analysis that was presented was preliminary financial analysis.  When I compare this document to the confidential EFS summary document, it's clear to me that what Enbridge Solutions Inc. has done is scrapped all of the work that was done by Enbridge Gas Distribution and started afresh.


And I believe that in J10.9 we have indicated that Enbridge Solutions Inc., as of February 2007, have not final approvals on which to proceed with the financing program and they have not finalized their business case to do that.


MR. WARREN:  Well, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, I have only one other question in this particular line of questions.  I'd like you to turn up again the transcript at page 139.  And beginning at line 12, you make the following observation:

"I can't speak as to what was the thought process for Enbridge Inc. or its specific employees."


And then when I look at your answer, you said you prepared ‑ you personally - with Mr. ‑‑ sorry, Ms. Lontoc prepared a presentation with Olga Shpor-O'Dell of EI.


So it wasn't the case that you didn't know what their thought processes was.  You cooperated with them in the preparation of a presentation; is that not fair?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  For 2005, until the initiative was moved over to Enbridge Gas ‑‑ or Enbridge Solutions Inc., there was a level of cooperation, as it was set out in the reply argument.  


Subsequent to that, there has been no involvement of Enbridge Gas Distribution staff, including myself, in the development of Enbridge Financial Services Inc. and their offering.


MR. WARREN:  Could I ask you, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, to turn up the attachment to undertaking response J10.9.  And do I take it that the attachment is ‑‑ which is dated December 18th, 2005, is the presentation that you worked on with the employee of EI?  Is that fair?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And I notice, when I look at the banner heading at the top, it says, "Enbridge consumer financing project update."  


Now, that suggests to my ill‑informed eyes that there was an earlier presentation; is that fair?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And can you tell us when the earlier presentation was made, and who prepared it, and to whom it was made?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  The initial one was made in August 2005, which was around the time of the rate case.  It was prepared by the same individuals, and it was presented to the same individuals that we have outlined in J10.9.


MR. WARREN:  And the update was required for what reason?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Because we have continued our analysis.  We had the costs from ABSU as to what it was going to cost, which was the $3.5 million, and at that point we were exploring:  What options did we have, and was it going to be feasible to make the changes to CIS to add third parties to the bill?


MR. WARREN:  Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, the undertaking that you were asked for was to check for a written submission by Enbridge Gas Distribution to either Enbridge Solutions or Enbridge Inc. regarding providing financing for the EnergyLink program.


I take it that you made a conscious decision not to provide, in response to the undertaking, the August 2005 submission for which this is an update; is that right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We thought that the most recent version, which is most developed, would be most helpful for the Board.


MR. WARREN:  So the answer to my question is, yes, you made a conscious decision not to present that earlier document?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  This is the most-up-to-date document.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if I could turn to page 2 of 17 of the attachment, you've got a first bullet item, it says:

"Strong financial business case for on‑bill financing."


And if I understand the bullets under that, is that the discounted earnings stream would be $43.7 million to the affiliate from this arrangement; is that right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That was correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, four lines further down, you indicate that ‑‑ sorry, two lines further down:

"Consumer financing opportunity provides critical strategic fit for Enbridge Gas Distribution."


Is it fair for me to conclude from that observation that the success of the EnergyLink program is tied, in a critical way, to the availability of the financing program from the affiliate?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, that's not correct.  And what we were looking at -- and if you recall earlier testimony by this panel, what was critical to the success of the EnergyLink program was availability of access to the bill, in general.


What we have brought forward here is a proposal that opens up the bill to everyone in a cost‑effective way.


MR. WARREN:  Now, you say under that, the next sub-bullet, I guess it is, is:

"Increase penetration of additional gas appliances and improve control over external distribution channels."


Is it fair for me to translate the second half of that observation to be improved control over the HVAC participants in the EnergyLink program?  Is that what it's saying?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  What it's saying is that the control of the outcome of having a channel partner program, where we're better available to influence increased penetration of things like water heaters, natural-gas ranges, natural-gas dryers.


MR. WARREN:  And how does it improve control?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It's control of the outcome; that what we're doing is we're creating a program where we're incenting and motivating our channel to work with us.  So if you have an incented and motivated channel, as any channel-management strategy, you're going to be able to increase your results.


MR. WARREN:  And they're motivated by the presence of a financing program how?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, over 80 percent of the contractors were asking for access to the utility bill.


MR. WARREN:  So I should not conclude, when I see the word "control", that you would ‑‑ that you intend the financing program as a means of tying the HVAC participants inexorably to Enbridge because of the availability of the financing program; is that not fair?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  You cannot conclude that at all.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if I could turn to the next page, page 3 of 17, you've got some project risks, and one of them is a legal risk, which says:

"Any option requiring Enbridge/ABSU to perform collections and call centre activity requires changes to a number of legal agreements."


Can you tell me what the changes are and to what legal agreements you refer?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I believe at that time, in order to put forward access to the bill, we would need to change our service agreement with CWLP and ABSU, and also that there was a trust agreement in place with Direct Energy, WLP, ABSU, and ourselves.


MR. McGILL:  There are six parties to the trust agreement.


MR. WARREN:  Let's deal first with the first category of legal agreements.  Were, in fact, there changes made to legal agreements?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, there weren't.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, Mr. McGill, since you volunteered the answer, what the trust agreement is?


MR. McGILL:  I've explained that to Board panels at least twice before.


MR. WARREN:  My apologies for missing it, Mr. McGill.


MR. McGILL:  The last time was in the 2006 proceeding.  What the trust agreement is, it's an agreement between - if I get the parties right:  EGD, now Direct Energy, originally Enbridge Services, Inc.; CWLP; CIBC Mellon, which acts as the trustee; Centrica Inc.; and Enbridge 

Inc. - that sets out how monies paid on the Enbridge bill are to be allocated and distributed to the two parties that have charges on the bill.


MR. WARREN:  The two parties being who?


MR. McGILL:  Enbridge Gas Distribution and Direct Energy.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Has that trust agreement ever been filed, Mr. McGill?


MR. McGILL:  No, it hasn't.


MR. WARREN:  Is there a reason why it can't be filed other than reasons of confidentiality?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, we would... it's been some time since I've looked at the document in any detail, but as far as I can recall, it has a non-disclosure provision, and we would have to go back to the other five parties to the agreement and seek their permission to provide the document.


Last year in the proceeding I was questioned at some length by Mr. Dingwall with respect to that arrangement, and he requested that the document be filed twice to the panel, and both times the panel found that that was not required.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, quite apart from all of this, Mr. McGill can correct me if I am wrong, but I believe that with the open bill settlement in place, that essentially this document will not be relevant any longer, and there will need to be a new arrangement because of the open bill settlement.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes, Direct Energy would agree with that, Mr. Chair, as well, that this is not a relevant document.  So it's not a matter of confidentiality.


MR. McGILL:  One of the steps that we have to execute in order to implement the new open bill billing arrangement with Direct Energy is to wind down the trust agreement, because it will no longer be required, given the terms and conditions of the open bill service agreement that will be put in place that we're also in the process of finalizing right now.


MR. WARREN:  I should say, Mr. McGill, for what it's worth, for your benefit and for whatever benefit the sitting panel derives from it, Messrs. Thompson and Shepherd and I have spent a not inconsiderable portion of what remains of our life dealing with the various agreements among Enbridge, ABSU, and others, and have never heard of the trust agreement until we saw this document.


MR. McGILL:  I'm sorry, but I did refer to it as the trust agreement on the transcript in the 2006 proceeding.  I have a copy of it here if you don't believe me.


MR. WARREN:  I absolutely believe you.  I have no reason to doubt you, Mr. McGill.  It's just, obviously, the three of us because of age were asleep at the switch when you were talking about it.


MR. McGILL:  I can't help you with that.


MR. WARREN:  Well, there are various ways you could, Mr. McGill, but I won't go into that now.


Looking again at page 3 of 17, we have a cash flow requirement reference that includes $5.7 million of start-up costs.  Does that remain the case, that there are $5.7 million in start-up costs in this financing project?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I couldn't speak as to what it would be today because I have not seen a business case at Enbridge Inc.


At the time that this was written, the $5.7 million, $3-1/2 million of that referred to the changes that would be required to make to the CIS to accommodate additional third parties to the bill.


MR. WARREN:  And is it your understanding, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, that those start-up costs would be borne by the affiliate and not by Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  For which period?  In this one?


MR. WARREN:  For any start-up costs of this program, or any of the start-up costs of the financing program. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Are we talking about the Open Bill Access settlement today?  I'm just trying to get some clarification because the answer's different.


MR. WARREN:  Whenever the financing program starts up, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, are any of the start-up costs to be borne by the ratepayers?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, they're being borne by the users.


MR. WARREN:  My next question on this document is on page 7 of 17, and my apologies, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, you may have answered this question earlier in another context.  The estimates for financing, and also the estimates of the return, are based on a present penetration rate of 4 percent; is that right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  I think at the bottom of the table there are some assumed penetration rates, and you can see that it's a fairly small penetration rate that's assumed by the program.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me where the assumption of 4 percent penetration rate came from?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, I believe it was in regards to some of the market research that was conducted... you find that on page 5.  Page 5 just outlines some of the customer research findings.


MR. WARREN:  Is this customer research the one that was done by Sapient?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, this was undertaken, I believe, by Ipsos-Reid.


MR. WARREN:   Am I right, though, in the numbers, if I go back to page 2 of 17, at least as far as this document is concerned, the earning stream of $43.7 million, that's based on an assumption of 4 percent penetration rate?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I would have to double-check.  I was not the financial analyst who prepared that, so I'd have to double-check, but I think that would be reasonable.


MR. WARREN:  Can I get an undertaking from for you to confirm that the ten-year discounted earnings stream of $43.7 million is based on an assumption of 4 percent penetration rate?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Certainly.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J13.3.


UNDERTAKING NO. J13.3:  TO CONFIRM TEN-YEAR 


DISCOUNTED EARNINGS STREAM BASED ON ASSUMPTION OF 


4 PERCENT PENETRATION RATE

MR. WARREN:  And my last question, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, on this.  Can you remind me again, the EnergyLink program will require a contribution from ratepayers -- you seek to recover from ratepayers in the first year of operation of the EnergyLink program what amount of money?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'd have to --


MR. WARREN:  I know you've given this before and I apologize.  I just couldn't find it in my notes or in the transcript.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Just give me a second.  I believe it's I26.10.


MR. WARREN:  Right.


MR. CASS:  While she's looking for that, Mr. Chair, I wonder if we could just be sure of the undertaking number.  Mr. Millar, is it possible it is J13.3?


MR. MILLAR:  It may be possible, Mr. Cass.  What do you think J13.2 is?  


Yes, we thought there was a question of the Direct Energy panel about bill inserts that was given J13.2.  Perhaps a question by Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. MILLAR:  I see people nodding.  I quite frankly forget it myself but if you say to so, I believe you.  So we'll make the next one J13.3.  We'll check the transcript to make sure we've got it straight.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Just help me again.  What exactly are you looking for?


MR. WARREN:  Enbridge is seeking to recover in rates, as I recollect, a sum for the starting costs or the operating costs for the first year in the EnergyLink program, and I was trying to recollect what that number was.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Actually, I believe that's in I26.4, and we were asked what the expenditures were for EnergyLink for 2007.


The 2007 budget is $1.3 million in O&M.  The capital expenditure is $2.7 million, and that's in relation to IT expenditures to develop Phase II of the initiative, which is the build-out for retail ‑‑ the retail component of the EnergyLink program.


MR. WARREN:  And would it be fair for me, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, in light of the information in this undertaking response, that you're seeking to recover that sum from ratepayers in order to provide a platform for the affiliate to earn over a ten‑year period $43.7 million?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, that is absolutely not the case.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward.  I'm in the Board's hands whether or not you want the EnergyLink cluster of questions by Mr. Shepherd and me in one portion of the transcript, or whether I should proceed to bill inserts now.


MR. KAISER:  Let's stay with EnergyLink, if we can.  Is that acceptable to you, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine with me, Mr. Chairman.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm starting with some undertaking responses that you filed, and I wonder if I could deal first with J9.1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm on page 2 of that document.  Actually, page 2 of the attachment I'm on.  You see attachment 1?  I take it attachment 1 is your call centre scripts?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm on page 2 and I'm looking at number 7, which is now on the screen.


The customer says,  I changed my mind.  I don't want a referral from EnergyLink, and you instruct your people to say, Sorry, can't do that.  You're going to get calls from contractors anyway.


Is that right?  


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.  The reason -- if you look over to the right‑hand side.  The reason:  Once that submit button is entered, the lead goes over to the Aprimo system and the e‑mail goes out to the ‑‑ to the contractor to call the customer.  But the guidance that we're giving to CSRs is that when the contractor calls them, let them know that the customer would like to cancel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but I thought the customer could decide that they didn't want calls from the contractors in the first place.  They can do that; right? 


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  As long as that submit button on the form has not been entered.


So the typical scenario would be that the CSR is talking to the customers and asking them if they wish to complete the referral request.


Up until that point, they have been provided the information, so the customer can choose not to complete that ‑‑ or hit that ‑‑ have the CSR submit that request, in which case they will not be contacted by the contractor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I looked through this call centre script for customer calls you on the phone and says I want some names of contractors.  And the CSR says:  Do you want us to have them call you or not?  


That isn't in here, is it?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Just give me a minute.


I believe that it's covered in when -- what the customer is asking about initially.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Show us where that is.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think that's in number 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I don't see that.  Where is that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, we're asking the customer whether they have natural gas installed or whether they're aware if natural gas is on the street.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if their answer is yes, then you instruct the CSR to put the information in the EnergyLink referral bank; right?  There's no Ask the customer whether they want a call or not.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Before we hit the "submit request", we need to ask the customer, from a privacy perspective, whether they're okay with us submitting that request, so we do ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  So is there another script that we haven't seen?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I believe that that's on our terms and conditions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But let me come back to the question I asked.  Is there another script we haven't seen? 


MS. CAIN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think there might be, because it's so straightforward that we're prepared to take an undertaking to take a look at that and see if there 

is ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  There might be another script?


MS. CAIN:  I suspect so.  I will take the undertaking to look into that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J13.4, and that's to find an additional ‑‑ Mr. Shepherd, do you care to describe it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  An additional call centre script, if it exists.


UNDERTAKING NO. J13.4:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL CALL 


CENTRE SCRIPT, IF IT EXISTS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then on page 4 of this same document, item 21 says:

"If customer doesn't like any of three contractors selected by EnergyLink contractor referral program"


And you tell the CSRs to say, We'll give you another three names, if you want, but, tough luck, the first three are still going to call you; isn't that right?


MS. CAIN:  In that case, Mr. Shepherd, they've already submitted and they've asked us to submit or they've gone on line and submitted themselves that, yes, they wanted those first three.  After having received correspondence, be it verbally, be it in their home, they've come back to us and said, We don't like any of those three contractors.  They're not what we're looking for.  They're not suitable.  Can you please provide us with another three?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what this says.  This doesn't say, I've already talked to the first three.  Now I want another three.  Because you tell the CSR that the CSR has to send the referrals to the first three, anyway, so they obviously haven't done it yet.


MS. CAIN:  They don't have to; only if they submit it.  If the customer were to come and say, No, I don't like any of those three, for whatever reason, they don't submit, the customer doesn't ask for their phone numbers, the piece that the SEC cannot do is refer at that moment in time three more contractors.  And the reason for it is there is no manual override.  There's no way to gain that system.  


So if you don't hit the "submit" button and the customer has the same requirements again, be it their municipality and the kind of products they're looking at, then the same contractors are there in the system, because they haven't been selected.


What they would have to do is perhaps call in an hour later or a few hours later, once somebody else has come into the system and utilized those three referrals and submitted.  That's why we can't manually override the referrals.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  So CSR says -- the SEC is the CSR?


MS. CAIN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was the question -- okay.  What's SEC?


MS. CAIN:  The sales enquiry centre.  That's the today-name.  It used to be CSR.  It was customer service rep.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The CSR says here are your three names; the customer says --


MS. CAIN:  Don't like them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I know these ones.  This guy's my brother-in-law.  They're idiots.  And the CSR, then, can't access another three names until they first submit those three names to the referral system.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think, as Ms. Cain had pointed out earlier, we would need to advise the customer to call back within an hour, and there will have been the rotation.


I think it's important to point out two aspects here.  First of all, when we designed the system, we wanted to make sure that there was no gaming of the system, and no manual override; that it was automatic and that there was that fairness to contractors.  That's the first point.


Secondly, based on the EnergyLink team's experience, we felt that three contractors would provide ample choice to the customers, and we felt that with five or ten there would be a diminishing value to that.  That's why we've selected three. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't let the customer choose how many they want, though?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  They can come back later and choose some additional ones.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you turn to Undertaking J10.8, please.  You can keep 10.3.  I'm going to get to it in a minute.  10.8 is what I'm looking for right now.


MR. MILLAR:  10.8?


MR. SHEPHERD:  10.8.  Sorry, was I not clear?


MR. MILLAR:  When you turn your head, you're not speaking clearly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the beard.


10.8 says that in the first two months you got, it looks to me like about 85 calls from non-customers on main.  Is that about right?  In that range?


MR. GREEN:  Doing the math, it looks reasonable, Mr. Shepherd, yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I had understood your evidence, and I can't remember the exact numbers but I remember that you had to get a pretty fair percentage of non-customers on main to make this program worthwhile.  What was the number that you had to get every month, or every year?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I never provided a monthly number but for the 2007, I believe the furnace participants was 1,200.


But I think where you're driving at, and what you need to remember is, this is a new program.  This is two months out.  We've had a very good launch.  It's going to build on itself.


I don't think you can infer anything on two months of activity.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could then turn to undertaking J10.5.


This says that so far this year you have spent $300,000 on EnergyLink advertising; is that right?


MR. GREEN:  That's correct, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're going to spend another 300,000 for the whole rest of the year?


MR. GREEN:  The total projected amount for 2007 is 600,000, so another 300,000 over, for the full year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not really up to date on the cost of billboards and things like that, but I would have thought that means you have a whole lot of billboards you have to take down; is that right?


MR. GREEN:  That we have to take down?


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you only have a 300,000 budget for 10 more months, then it strikes me that that's not going to be enough to pay for all the billboards you have, let alone the radio advertising.


MR. GREEN:  The advertising expenditures, if you will, in response to your comment about billboards, they will only be in market for a certain period of time, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then they'll be coming down?


MR. GREEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this doesn't include bill inserts, does it?


MR. GREEN:  I think the program expenditures do include bill inserts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just did a little bit of math here, and the bill insert proposal is 4 cents an insert, plus the reduction costs, which means that every insert costs somewhere between $80,000 and $100,000 for one month, and you did two in January?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm sorry, what are you referencing with the costs?  For the bill inserts?


MR. SHEPHERD:  4 cents a bill insert; isn't that the cost of your bill-insert service?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that's third-party.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, precisely.  What that means is that you're in fact not including any cost for that, right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  The third-party bill inserts are the cost to third parties, not Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So all you have is the production costs of bill inserts?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  This is a utility service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  This is a utility service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't include the incremental costs of the bill insert service, do you?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  For the third-party costs, the incremental costs of third-party --


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you cost the third-party bill insert, there are incremental costs and there are fully allocated costs; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The incremental costs are X dollars for bill insert; was it 2 cents or something like that?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  The incremental costs are over and above when we are increasing the number of bill inserts for third parties to move from one mailing category to the next.  That's what that cost covers.


Today EGD runs bill inserts for a variety of programs, including safety, rate regulation, and also its own marketing programs.  This is part of EGD's what I'll call normal complements of its marketing efforts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there are no incremental costs to it?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask you to turn to undertaking J10.3.


Now, you've talked about your 25,000 wasted calls.  And it looks like you're expecting to approximately double that in the first year of EnergyLink through advertising and promoting telephone calls to EnergyLink; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Almost?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  From looking at the pattern of this, I take it that you're expecting a further substantial increase in 2008?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think we're going to have to assess as the year goes on what the 2008 pattern is going to look like.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It will depend on how much you spend on advertising and how successful the initial referrals are, et cetera, right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  The pattern is very seasonal as well, so we'll have to look at what the calls are today and make a reasonable projection for 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I take it you're hoping that it will increase each year; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  What we're looking at doing is increasing the added load opportunities for all participants out there.  In that regard, yes, we're hoping that the calls will increase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'm planning to move to K10.1, which is the Project Atocha stuff.  That may take a few minutes, I wonder if it would be convenient for you to take the break now.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll take 15 minutes, Mr. Shepherd.


--- Recess taken at 2:51 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:13 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I'm just trying to find the correct document.


I wonder if you could turn to K10.1, attachment 2.  This is a presentation given with respect to Project Atocha; is that right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  This was the first presentation of the business model and the value propositions made to our executive on Project Atocha.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was made to?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Our executive.  We've talked in the past of -- from governance structure, that we had an executive group who has provided the oversight.


MR. SHEPHERD:  An executive group.  This is not your EMT?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Now, it was a subset of the EMT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this was in August 2005?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in August 2005 you gave a presentation to -- who was it?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I can't recall the exact attendance at the meeting, but that group, the executive group, would be Mr. Acunas Pleckaitis, vice‑president of operations; Mr. Lino Luison, who was our VP of opportunity development.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Player?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Mr. Player, who had accountability for IT.


We had either George De Wolf or Henry Wong from our IT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Akkermann.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, not Mr. Akkermann.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So prior to this, this isn't the first time Project Atocha existed; right?  It existed prior to this; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Project Atocha was formed in early 2005.  We hired Sapient in May 2005.  We -- through the summer of 2005, we find our business models and the -- what you see here, and it was first presented to that group in August 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so before you hired Sapient, obviously you had to have some sort of plan.  You couldn't just go out and hire somebody just because you felt like it.  You had to have some reason; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We had some ideas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was written down somewhere?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can you provide that document?


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Chair, I object again to this.  A question was asked for a business plan.  There were arguments about it.  The business plan has been filed.  The Board can see that this is already taking us back to August of 2005.


Mr. Shepherd is now wanting to go back even further in time, before August 2005, apparently for the filing of additional documents.  No basis has been established as to why they're needed or why this business plan itself isn't sufficient for the purposes that he wishes to pursue.


And, in my submission, it's simply not relevant to the setting of rates for 2007 to go back into this inquiry into early 2005 with respect to, I think, what the witness said were ideas in early 2005.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, these are the same arguments that Mr. Cass made the last time we talked about this, and we made clear, I thought, that what we were trying to do is get back to the document that connects the dots between these affiliate activities and EnergyLink.  


What they've done instead, quite selectively, is they've gone back to the point where EnergyLink was EnergyLink - it wasn't called it yet, but this is clearly an EnergyLink document - and haven't gone back any farther than that, because they don't want to connect the dots.  


All I'm asking you is to go back to those first documents, which is what I asked for in the first place, the first documents which do exactly that.


MR. KAISER:  And what documents specifically are you looking for?


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's why I laid the groundwork there, because there is a document earlier on that says, This is what the idea is, this is what we're thinking about, that allowed them to then go out and spend money on Sapient to ask questions like would you buy HVAC products from Enbridge.


MR. KAISER:  Well, how does that help us?  I mean, we have the ‑‑ Mr. Warren has taken us through the connection with respect to the establishment of the financing subsidiary, and all of that.  What more is it we're looking for?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's the thesis of the HVAC Coalition that the intention of the utility is to use EnergyLink as the platform on which to build a bunch of competitive businesses.


MR. KAISER:  I understand that.  I understood that with respect to this financing subsidiary, and we've been through that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is one.


MR. KAISER:  What are the other things that, in your view, they're actually up to and that these documents will show were really their motivation in establishing EnergyLink?  What are these other businesses?


MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't know for sure, but we know, for example, that Sapient asked customers, Would you buy furnaces, for example, from Enbridge.


Now, obviously, if you're asking questions like that, there's a purpose to that and ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  But isn't that a long way of getting there?  We can go around the bush.  Is the question really:  Are there any other documents that would show other ‑‑ that there were benefits to Enbridge in developing other potential lines of businesses?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  If there are those documents, we would be interested in having them, but let's not go through the tea leaves to see if they point there.  Why don't we just ask the question to produce the document that clearly shows the presentation to whoever it was with respect to the establishment of the financing subsidiary?  


You're looking for like documents that would relate to other business activities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, not necessarily like documents.  Unfortunately, Mr. Chairman, as we see from what they filed here, if we say "like documents", then they'll look and they'll say, Well, was this a PowerPoint or not?  Okay, it's not a PowerPoint; it doesn't count.


MR. KAISER:  I take your point.  Can you tell us whether there were any documents that you're aware of that would show potential benefits of the EnergyLink project to Enbridge corporate in terms of developing other business activities?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I will try and be as helpful as I can.


Late 2004, a competitive scan was completed.  There was a broad array of opportunities that were laid out.  With respect to what was approved, the only thing ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  No, we're not asking what was approved.  Was there a consideration -- was there any documentation that would show that part of the motivation or consideration for establishing EnergyLink was to develop ancillary business activities over and above the financing affiliate which you've just described?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  So if I can just repeat what you're asking for, was there any document that shows the motivation for EnergyLink the creation of benefits and affiliate; is that --


MR. KAISER:  The motivation or were there collateral benefits.  In other words, the theory behind this examination, and it's been going on for a number of days, is that the real motivation for EnergyLink is not just to increase the consumption of gas, but to develop profits in unregulated subsidiaries, and they've pointed to the financing subsidiary as one possible example of that.


Now Mr. Shepherd wants to pursue with you:  Are there documents in your possession that would show there were other business opportunities that motivated this investment in EnergyLink?  


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, they weren't.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  I don't know whether we can go any further than that, can we?  You can follow up if you want.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Chairman, the difficulty is we've just had Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward have pointed out to her by Mr. Warren, when she gave a similar answer to a question, Well, gee, I don't remember anything --


MR. KAISER:  No, I understand that.  Her answer was a little bit short.  Mr. Warren made that point and asked her the question directly.  She says no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and I suspect that what she's doing is exercising her judgment as to what things motivated EnergyLink.  EnergyLink, of course, itself didn't have that name until last year.


MR. KAISER:  Well, EnergyLink or Project Atocha or whatever it was called.  I'm sure that she understands that.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Perhaps, just to be clear, whether it's Project Atocha or EnergyLink, there are no documents that indicate that there are flow-through benefits, or that the rationale for creating Atocha or EnergyLink refer to -- or that there are other opportunities out there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know what to do.


MR. KAISER:  Well, she's saying no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll move on, Mr. Chairman.


On this K10.1 attachment 2, I assume that wherever it says SCCP, the strategic contractor channel program, that's basically EnergyLink; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  We broke EnergyLink up into two components, the strategic channel contractor program, and SRCP, strategic retail channel program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  As we've, I think, tried to present here, we have proceeded initially in the Phase I with the SCCP, the HVAC component, and for 2007 we are building out the SRCP or the retail component.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But they're both now part of EnergyLink?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 1 of this document, do you see the fourth last bullet from the end?  It says,

"Additional referrals will be provided at customer request."


Now, that's not the case anymore; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We just talked about that earlier?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm sorry.  Where are you referencing?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's page 1 of 10, it says.  The 4th last bullet.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  

"Additional referrals will be provided at  customer request if for any reason they are not satisfied with the initial three."


That's correct, it's not in the current design, other than the mechanism that we talked about earlier.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And two down from that, 

“Customer will have the option to call the contractors directly..."


Now, that is in there.  It's just not in your call centre script; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  Customers can call directly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then on the next page you say: 

"One of the values to the end-use customer is they have peace of mind when selecting an EGD/SCCP member."  


That's because you pre-qualify them? 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That’s correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have there a heading:  "Value to SCCP members.”  Obviously pre-qualified leads are still there, and you're going to have targeted campaigns, right, that only they can participate in?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think, as we've talked about in previous testimony, we would like to be able to offer targeted campaigns, obviously at the Board's discretion.  But nonetheless, there will be general campaigns as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what does it say, your internal channel consultants would pre-qualify the call or work with the contractor to close the sale, so Enbridge is going to help your EnergyLink contractors make their sales in the home?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  You have to understand that this is a document that was prepared over a year ago.  I have highlighted in the general response to the undertaking that many elements of this have changed.  We're obviously trying to be responsive in filing that.


The channel consultant, as in EnergyLink today, has no role in working with the contractor to close that sale.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a change from the original plan.


MS. CAIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I just want to add to that.  Going back, if my memory serves me correctly, to August of 2005, we were at that point thinking about things such as the non-COMs.  We've talked about recognizing that they are a key target for growth along with new communities, and that is where we saw our internal consultants working with and helping contractors.


To the question you just put forward, you're absolutely right; we aren't out there working, helping those contractors close the sale at this point in time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Another key value you have for the EnergyLink members is differentiation from other contractors.  That's still the case; right?  They can set themselves apart and say we're better than the other ones?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I don't think I would agree they can say we're better than the other ones, but they can indicate they're an EnergyLink participant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That differentiation is an advantage only if they can say they're better, isn't it?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, they can say they're different; they have different qualities.


Again, let's just go back and remember that there is no cost for this, there are no restrictions other than the basic minimum business criteria that we've set out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you have here "value to EGD,"  and you have four benefits.  I take it they're not ranked in order?  These four bullets don't prioritize?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that's fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's still true that one of the primary values is the customers want referrals, right; they're asking you for referrals?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're giving them what they want.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  They're asking for the utility's assistance to connect them with providers of natural-gas products and services, and that's what we're doing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The second one, the enhanced channel for -- this is load growth and DSM.  This is still true.  This is your primary reason; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The third one, "data acquisition."  What's that about?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That really is linked to 2, so that in the future, if we know that a customer put in a natural-gas barbeque, for example, that we might have some kind of promotion to them in the future.  Again, this is all in relation to added load and DSM benefits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll come back to that.  Then the fourth bullet is a dedicated sales channel.  That's different from 2; right?  This is not about load growth sales channel, this is now sales channel for other things?
MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, I wouldn't agree with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then how does it differ from 2, from the second one?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, valued -- they're listed.  I think they're related, but the dedicated sales channel is to target specific customers and products, and I think it spells it out there by geographic area, age of home.  And this is about added load and DSM benefits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Go to the last bullet on this page.  It starts out "SCCP contractors."


And it says, "Based on home and lifestyle profile

   information provided by the customer."


I hadn't heard you talking about customers providing home and lifestyle information and having any sort of database on that.  Can you tell us about that?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  First and foremost I'm not sure of the complete relevance of this, given that it's back in August of 2005.  All that we're indicating here, and it relates through to the DSM acquisition through SCCP reporting, is that from a marketing perspective, from an EGD perspective, what we're doing is collecting information on what our customers have with respect to equipment types and we're better able to target added load and DSM opportunities through to them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only home-and-lifestyle information you're talking about is what kind of furnace they have?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think first and foremost it's gone now, but at the time we were thinking of, when we talk about lifestyle, what kind of lifestyle products?  Do they have patio heaters, do they have barbecues?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're no longer planning in this program to get customer information, build customer profiles, of any sort, are you?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We may collect, as we do with other marketing programs, information on our customers' usage of natural gas and appliance types, but I would say that's it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that information would be owned by Enbridge Gas Distribution; correct? 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your affiliates wouldn't have access to that information?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you go to the top of the next page.  We're talking now about the advantages to contractors, I guess, again.  And one of the advantages would be promotions and incentives just for EnergyLink members.  Is that still the case?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Sorry, can you point me to...


MR. SHEPHERD:  The second bullet on the page, "Access to SCCP specific promotions and incentives."


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  So what I just indicated was that what we would like to do is have specific incentives for EnergyLink participants.  However, that's obviously something that we would seek direction or some guidance from the Board on.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they would be like DSM incentives?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Potentially, but I think it would be more added load.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So fuel switching, for example?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  As an example, or could be other added load.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Aren't you concerned that you reduce your ability to be successful in fuel switching because you cut out a whole bunch of the market?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I don't believe that we've cut out a bunch of the market.  We have, actually, as of yesterday, I believe 224 contractors who like the program.  Again, there's no restrictions.  This is an industry‑inclusive program.  The more the merrier.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you just go down that page ‑‑ oh, by the way, what's a SPIF in that same bullet?


MS. CAIN:  It's a sales promotion incentive fund.  So an example would be -- retail is a good example.  Somebody who sells dryers in a retail outlet, a manufacturer or a utility, may turn out and say, Every natural-gas dryer you sold, we will give you ‑‑ there will be a sales promotion incentive fund set up.  You may get $10 for every one that you sell.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So it's a fancy way of saying incentive?


MS. CAIN:  It's an industry‑wide understanding of -- is it an incentive?  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But in this context, of course, it's not industry-wide.  It's EnergyLink-wide; right?


MS. CAIN:  Well, it's not even EnergyLink wide, because this was -- as Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward keeps saying, this was done almost two years ago, and we have revised and revised and revised this program, so much so that a lot of what is being asked here we've already addressed today.  


Now we're talking almost two years ago, so a lot of these things don't even apply, because SPIFs are not in our current EnergyLink business case, and we had to -- in the last two years, we've taken a look at what does work for the industry, what does and what is acceptable.  What can we do?  What benefits the ratepayer?


So we've had to take a lot of these things out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you just go down that page to -- under the heading "Value to EGD", the fourth bullet says, "Facilitates performance target management."


You recall we talked about this the other day.  And my understanding was that you were saying that you weren't going to be assessing the performance of individual EnergyLink members.  So this is a change from your original plan; is that right?


MS. CAIN:  This is a big change, yes.  It was something ‑‑ you've got to remember, Mr. Shepherd, a lot of what you see here were initial steps.  It was a first springboard attempt and a lot of it was ideas.  It wasn't carved in stone, and that was one of the things that we did take out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  On the next page, and also in a number of the other documents which I'll come to in a second, you talk about the third-party financing company, which I take it to mean that your plan at that time, and indeed in December 2005 as well, your plan was that you wouldn't have an Enbridge affiliate doing the financing.  


You would have a third-party financing company providing the financing, sort of outsourcing it, as it were, and you would have an affiliate in the middle arranging it; is that right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  And I think that is consistent with what we read in the reply argument today as to, at that time, August 2005, in order to get access to the bill and to overcome this 3-1/2-million-dollar problem, let's say, we were working with EI to develop a financing offer, but there would be probably a third party involved in putting that together.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and is that still the case?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think you've seen the EFS summary document as much as I have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a non‑responsive answer.  Try again.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, in the EFS summary response, I think you see that there's the name of Securicor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't recall it, but, okay.  So the intention still is that an Enbridge affiliate will, in effect, charge a fee to allow a third-party financing company to market to Enbridge customers; isn't that right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, first and foremost, I don't think I can comment on what the structure of the EI arrangement with Securicor is.  I'm only going by the same information that you have with respect to that EFS summary document.  


So I don't know what the roles and responsibilities of each party is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  With respect, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, this is your presentation.  The one in December was your presentation.  And they both talk about that structure.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  What I was referring to was the EFS summary document that Enbridge Solutions Inc. provided, and that was January 2007.  And, as we've indicated, they've got a very different structure from what was presented here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying they're not doing what this says here, taking a spread over the base financing rate and having somebody else provide the money and the financing.  Not doing that anymore?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I don't believe that that's the structure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then what is the structure?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  With due respect, Mr. Shepherd, and I apologize if I'm not being responsive, but, I mean, I'm not an Enbridge Gas Distribution employee and I do not know, other than what we've seen in that -- that we've all seen in that document, what the structure of the arrangement is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, here's my difficulty with this.  It sounds like, and this is the first that I had twigged to this - maybe everybody else understood this, but I didn't ‑ that the Enbridge affiliate that's going to provide the financing isn't actually going to do it.  They're simply going to take some third party and charge a fee to let them have access to the utility's customers.


I would have thought that that's something that's relevant to the Board and that these witnesses should be able to tell us about.  If not, I think they should bring somebody who can tell us about it.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I think it was in the document that Mr. Warren was referring to.  There were references to a number of financing companies.  I saw G.E. Capital, and little boxes for a number of them, I think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's not the same thing, Mr. Chairman.  That's about how many people would be allowed to access to the bill.  This is a separate issue.


This is Enbridge Solutions Inc. saying, Okay, we'll be the financing company, but we won't actually do any of it. We'll get Bank of Nova Scotia to do all the financing stuff. We'll just be the face on it and charge a fee.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  But let's suppose the option that the financing company has are they can borrow the money from the bank and provide their own capital and make it available to the distributors to finance the purchase of this equipment, or they can, as you say, just be an agent and let G.E. Capital or somebody else actually provide the money and do the transactions and hold the receivable, and they collect a fee.


So what?  What does it matter?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if the affiliate doesn't do anything in the middle except provide the name, then all they're doing, it appears to me, is to trade on the utility's access to the customer when we already have a competitive financing market out there right now.


So this is the ‑‑ this is an inappropriate use of the utility's access to the customer to put profits into an affiliate.  And it would seem to us that if that's what EnergyLink is about, and more and more we see the connection between the two, then EnergyLink is a dumb idea.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Now, the witness is saying, I don't know how they're going to do it.  That's what she said.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  How do we go beyond that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what we have ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  If she says she doesn't know, she doesn't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what we do know is that she at least twice presented a proposal to the company and to 

EI --


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- on how it should be done.


MR. KAISER:  We do know that, and that's the inference.  She says, I don't know whether they're continuing with that business model or not.  It appears that they've changed their business model.  I don't know.  


So how do we go any further?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think we should ask her to find out. It's an affiliate.  The regulated entity is required to tell us what the affiliate is doing, if what the affiliate's doing affects the regulated entity.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass. 

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I think it's very clear to the Board the utility does not know the specific plans of the affiliate other than what has been produced, I believe, in confidence.  Because of questions that were being asked by Mr. Shepherd, I believe that the affiliate was prepared to produce this document in confidence for people like Mr. Shepherd to see.


The utility doesn't have the answer to these questions.  I don't have the answer to these questions.  I don't think that this 2007 rate case for Enbridge Gas Distribution is a forum for Mr. Shepherd to pursue his curiosity about what the affiliate may be doing with respect to a financing program.


There is nothing in this that meets or that supports his point that somehow the affiliate is making improper use of the utility's customers.  The affiliate is running its business in a competitive market, just like any other business in a competitive market.  There's nothing to establish that it has some improper access to information from the utility that's allowing it to do this.


If there is to be an argument about information from the affiliate, from outside Enbridge Gas Distribution, we've been around that one before, and I don't have instructions in that regard.  I don't act for those companies.  There was some question about whether Margaret Simms, who is on the record in this case for CWLP, might act for those companies, and since that was raised by me the previous time, I think it's been confirmed that she does not.


But I know that Enbridge, the affiliate, has been taking steps to retain its own counsel in the event that these issues are to be pursued.  If they are to be pursued, Enbridge's counsel can be brought in here and can address this with Mr. Shepherd, but I really don't see why this has anything to do with the utility's rate case for 2007.


MR. KAISER:  Remind me of a fact on this.


Your client is going to have this program, this EnergyLink program, and financing is one part of it.  We've heard a lot of evidence that it's a key thing that financing will be available through this program.


Is financing available through EnergyLink only through the affiliate, or do other financing companies get to participate in providing financing to EnergyLink distributors?


MR. CASS:  First, Mr. Chairman, my client is not involved in financing.


MR. KAISER:  No, but you're involved in the EnergyLink program, and a component of that program is access to financing.  And one of the providers of the financing, maybe the sole provider of the financing, is an affiliate.


MR. CASS:  But, Mr. Chair, I'm sorry, I'm missing the connection between EnergyLink and financing.  I thought it had been clearly established in the evidence there is no connection.  EnergyLink as it now exists is a referral service for customers calling who need the types of services that have been talked about, whether it's a water-heater or an HVAC service relating to gas equipment.


It's not a referral service for financing.


MR. KAISER:  I'm lost because there are all kinds of documents that say financing is a critical part of this program.


MR. CASS:  Financing was very important for the company's desire to add load in the gas area.  What was very important there, as I understand it, was access to the bill, that it's not enough just that there are these people out there offering financing; that customers and contractors want an ability see that on the gas company bill.  That's been addressed through the open bill issue and the open bill settlement, that there's not that access, so that somebody buying one of these pieces of gas equipment could potentially finance it through a company that could put it on to the Enbridge bill.  That’s the missing element.  There are financing companies out there.  It’s customers and contractors who want it financed on the Enbridge bill.  I don't know what that has to do with EnergyLink.  That's open bill.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I apologize, if I could just add as well that with EnergyLink there are no restrictions on the financing that they can use.  They do not have to use an affiliate financing; they're free to use whatever payment options that they so choose.


In addition, with respect to the Open Bill Access settlement, again, we put clear language in there to say that it is not limited to EnergyLink participants.


I think from the company's perspective, we made it very clear that EnergyLink and the financing are now very distinct and separate.  If Enbridge Solutions Inc. wants to go out and offer financing, it's a competitive business, and good luck to them.


MR. KAISER:  But am I to understand this, then?  Are you saying that EGD will not be recommending or promoting financing from any source?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  If that's the case, Mr. Shepherd, I don't see what it matters how the financing entity is conducting its business.  There are a bunch of financing entities out there; we've heard evidence from your witnesses and others who say there is lots of financing.


If they all get to compete on an equal basis, and Enbridge Solutions decides to throw its hat in the ring, it's not getting, as I hear the evidence, any preference over anyone else.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Except that it gets to use the Enbridge name.  But other than that you're right.


MR. KAISER:  But I think it’s not going to use the Enbridge --


MR. McGILL:  Excuse me, there's another point here.  With respect to the open bill settlement, the open bill settlement places more restrictions on any Enbridge affiliate in terms of its access to the bill than anybody else, in that it can't associate itself with the Enbridge logo and marks on the Enbridge bill.  So we have open access to the bill for anybody who wants to offer this kind of finance program.  And further to that, there are even restrictions on the Enbridge affiliate beyond that which would apply to any of these other parties.


MR. KAISER:  I think part of the confusion is in some of your earlier presentations, it's suggested in promoting this, there were some presentations, PowerPoints that you made to potential distributors - you recall those - and they said, guess what?  One of the benefits over this program is you're going to get financing and Enbridge Solutions or whatever is going to help out.


What I now hear you saying, and tell me if I get this right, is we're not doing that.  We're not involved in financing in any shape or form.  Whoever gets these leads can get their financing from whomever they want, and we're not recommending anyone in any shape or form.  Is that the case or not?


MR. McGILL:  That's correct.  Because why would a utility --


MR. KAISER:  That is different from what your earlier presentation said.


MR. McGILL:  All the earlier presentations said was that HVAC contractors wanted to have access to the Enbridge bill and financing programs, and that the two things would be complementary.  But for the utility, the best thing is to have as many financing options available as possible for customers, not just one.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


In your presentations to contractors in the summer of 2006, you promoted the Enbridge Solutions Inc. financing, didn't you?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We said subject to OEB approval that that would be available.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question on this Project Atocha -- Atocha or Atocha?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  EnergyLink.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question on this page 5 is, you see a bullet there, it says... where is it?  It's the fourth bullet under "value to EGD" and it says:

   

"Tests the consolidated energy bill concept."


What is that, "consolidated energy bill concept"?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm sorry, there are a lot of words on this page, and it's getting late in the day.  Can you give me the paragraph number again?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it's page 5 of 10.  The heading is “Value to EGD.”  The fourth bullet says:  

"Tests the consolidated energy bill concept."


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Really the consolidated energy bill is really the open bill concept that we have today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  And then it goes on to say, "... minimizes risk from vendor-consolidated billing."


This is one of your motivations over the last couple of years, to make sure, or to limit the possibility that marketers will choose to have their own bills and you'll lose contact with the customer; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We're concerned from an Enbridge Gas Distribution perspective of, yes, losing access to that customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is about ownership of the customer.  There was questions this morning about owning the customer from -- I think it was questions of Union or Direct.


But you're in the same position; right?  You want to own the customer?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I don't think that there's a question of ownership of the customer.  We all have shared customers.  What we want from a customer communication point of view, the bill is an important communication channel for us.  So we want to retain that relationship with the customer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you to go to Exhibit J10.9 [sic] again, and this is an undertaking that Mr. Warren has taken you through in some depth, and so I only have a few questions on it.


Let me just start with this heading you have in the undertaking chronology, and about half way down you talk about the presentation that you and Ms. Lontoc and Ms. Shpor-O'Dell made to EI and EGD.  And this was made to Mr. Player and Mr. Luison; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Player is retired; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Luison is now head of Enbridge Solutions Inc.?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Akkermann, who was at Enbridge Solutions Inc. but now is back at Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's his job at EGD?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  He's the regional general manager in our eastern region.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ottawa.  Okay, yes.  And it goes down to ‑‑ if you take a look at the bottom last two lines, it talks about the approvals by the EnergyLink executive committee, which you've talked about who that was.  


And there was a proposal to them.  I assume that proposal is the August proposal that we've just been looking at, the Project Atocha proposal?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  That's the first time that we presented the business model and the business processes and things like that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that was the basis on which they approved it?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's go to the presentation itself, and I just want to understand something.  We talked about the relationship between on‑bill financing and EnergyLink, and there's so many places, like here on page 2 of 17 in the attachment, where it says that success of EnergyLink is heavily dependent on on‑bill financing.


But you launched EnergyLink before on‑bill financing was finalized; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, because the two are independent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But everywhere else you say, no, they're not independent; one is heavily dependent on the other.  So what changed?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, we had the open bill access consultative all through -- I think starting in mid 2006.  We had the Board direction coming out of the 2006 rate case.  In addition, we had -- working as part of that consultative, if you recall, Mr. Shepherd, we had revised cost estimates from ABSU where it was now feasible to add third parties to the bill.  And so in coming forward with the proposal as part of the 2007 rate case, you know, it made sense to -- as part of the proposal, to open up the bill to third parties.  


There wasn't going to be a 3-1/2-million-dollar price tag to do that that no one was willing to bear.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, at this time, in December 2005 ‑ I'm now on page 4 of this ‑ your expectation was that you were going to be able to control access to the bill, and, thus, you would be able to do it through an affiliate, rather than have an open bill; is that right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, first of all, I'm not sure if I agree with that interpretation.  But what it's saying here -- and, again, you know, there's this conspiracy theory that seems to be purported here, and I think the scope is very clear:  

"Providing Enbridge residential and small commercials with a convenient, seamless, competitively priced financing option to facilitate the purchase of natural-gas appliances, as well as complementary products.  Support Enbridge Gas Distribution's contractor partners by providing access to the EGD bill.  Access to the bill will primarily be through a consumer‑financed product that may also include bill marketing opportunities."


You know, it's evident that what this is doing is to support EGD in its add‑load marketing programs, not the other way around.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What this appears to say is that you'll control access to the bill through an affiliate.  Isn't that what it says?


MR. McGILL:  It doesn't say that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This is a proposal on ESI, isn't it?


MR. McGILL:  I don't see that word "control" on that page.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It's providing access.  I'm not sure what the relevance is now.  We've got a settlement agreement that clearly does not ‑ and as Mr. McGill has indicated - place an affiliate at some disadvantage and opens up the financing to all interested parties.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have a couple of questions.


MR. McGILL:  Another aspect of that open bill settlement is that there's an incentive built into it for the utility to add third parties to the bill.  


So we're encouraged to do that and - I come back to my earlier point - we want to see that happen.  I would love to see President's Choice Financial come to us to get on the bill, or ING, or whoever can go out and help people support acquire these appliances or gas-fired equipment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're absolutely on the same page on that.  Can we turn, speaking of pages, to page 5 of this document?  The thing I want to ask you about is you had Sapient go out and do some research, and they concluded that ‑‑ at least I think it was Sapient.  And they found that 15 percent of your customers would like to purchase their HVAC equipment from you rather than Sears, Home Depot or anybody else; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  There was a question that was asked and you've, in an earlier context, tried to use this question of:  What are we getting into?  And I believe that we have answered that in a letter to yourselves, where we have indicated that ‑‑ or Enbridge Solutions Inc. has advised us that Enbridge Solutions Inc. is not planning on entering, you know, the HVAC business.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then why did you ask the question?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Because we're trying to understand, What do our customers think about when they think about Enbridge Gas Distribution?  I think it's a logical question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then go to the next page:

"Enbridge enjoys high recognition/receptivity by customers as a place to purchase natural-gas products."


How is that relevant to Enbridge Solutions Inc.?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Because when customers are thinking about where to go for assistance in purchasing or acquiring natural gas products, we don't do that anymore, but we're top of mind to them to provide that information.  So it's relevant from that perspective, for a referral service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, one of the other questions in that survey was about natural-gas appliances, and you had some big number of customers that said if you put an online catalogue through an Enbridge site, 37 percent would buy from it; right?  It's not in here.  It's in another document.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, I don't think it says "buy".  I think 37 percent of customers would use an online catalogue.  So, again, it's finding out information in the same way as a referral system, in that only 7 percent would buy appliances online.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you can turn just to page 7 briefly.  This is your market potential, right, for product financing?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And as I looked at these numbers, this is not market potential for incremental sales.  This is all sales in your area of these products; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think that, again, it's been quite a bit of time, but, yes, I think so. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were expecting that in year 1 you could get 2.1 percent of the customers choosing on-bill financing?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  The Enbridge Inc. program, yes, we had assumed that penetration rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, at this time you were thinking that was just Enbridge Inc.; right?  That wasn’t a whole lot of people sharing that 2 percent?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, that would be fair in December 2005.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now you're assuming that there are going to be a lot of companies competing for that 2.1 percent?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, no.  I think when you say 2.1 percent, again, look at the number.  It's a very small penetration rate.  What customers are going to be looking at to finance on the bill could be a higher number.  I don't know what -- it will be up to the competitive marketplace to see who gets part of that pie.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me go to page 9.  One thing leapt out at me here, and that is, you made the assumption that you would have a 2 percent bad-debt rate.  But isn't Enbridge under the open bill proposal guaranteeing half of 1 percent?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  The half a percent is available to all third parties.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What happened to move from 2 percent to half of 1 percent?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, that was then, and now we did some more investigation on what our bad debt is, and we believe that with our current bad-debt rate of .49 percent --  


MR. McGILL:  Yes.    


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  -- that that would be the level on how the Open Bill Access proposal was structured; that that would be an appropriate number to use.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just two more questions.


On page 15, you have chart called "Financial Scenarios."  Can you explain this?  I couldn't make head or tail of it.


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  This was one of my colleagues that prepared this.  Again, this is a document that's now close to two years old, so I'm not sure if I remember the details, but what we were trying to do is find what the sensitivity of the preliminary financial analysis that was done to -- what the break-even equity NPV results would be under varying assumptions.  So it kind of laid out, if the debt cost was 10 percent, the interest rate was 18 percent, and the penetration rates for furnaces and water-heaters.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these penetration rates, these are not what you're predicting; these are your break-even penetration rates?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  At that time, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question is with respect to page 16 -- actually, I have two questions on page 16.


You refer to a document there called "The Enbridge Bill Strategy."  Has that ever been filed?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, I don't believe it has.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's an actual document; right?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm not sure if it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question is in the "cons" - this is the pros and cons of having on-bill financing versus a private brand label financing program - and what you say is, if you have private branded label financing, you'll have lower margins.  What does that mean?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  If you have a private brand label financing - so this would be Enbridge Gas Distribution on a separate bill - that we had assumed that what the company could charge would be lower.  The margins would be lower than through an on-bill financing program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further questions.  Thank you for your patience, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Ms. Crain.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAIN:

MS. CRAIN:  Thank you.  I'll be very brief.  The first question is extremely brief.  You filed in your answers to undertakings some information about call projections for EnergyLink.  I’m trying to pull up the reference here.  My question was, I think it was around 44,000... here it is.  It's J10.3.


You've produced a table that says:  "EnergyLink actual and forecasted calls."  Just a clarification question.


I take it the 2006 numbers of 970 are actuals?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MS. CRAIN:  Are all of the 2007 numbers forecasted, or are any of those actuals?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I believe the January is an actual and the rest are forecast.


MS. CRAIN:  I'm just trying to understand how that relates to the 1,770 number that has come up before.  You said there were 1,770 calls to EnergyLink to date?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Again, there are customers who call in and request information on the EnergyLink contractors.  But we only record the referral when, you know, we hit the submit button, and we've gone through that.  So there are a lot of customers who are calling in and also using our website and just getting the names of the contractors themselves.  We don't record the referral.


So, again, it's coming back to that customer choice where that customer does have that choice.  So completing the submit or just calling them directly.


MS. CRAIN:  It's still correct, then, that there have only been 1,770 referrals?  That's the distinction?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think it was 1,770 customers assisted, and then because we provided up to three referrals.


MS. CRAIN:  Right.  That's the number of customers to whom you have provided three referrals each?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  So we've assisted 1,770 customers and provided up to three referrals.


MS. CRAIN:  Is your total call volume around 4 million calls a year?


MR. McGILL:  The total live answer and IVR calls is on the order of 3 and a half million, yes.


MS. CRAIN:  Three and a half million?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. CRAIN:  You stopped the radio ads for EnergyLink in the last little while?


MR. GREEN:  Yes, they are.  They're off the air right now, yes.


MS. CRAIN:  You stopped them.  Have you noticed, has that had any impact on call volumes to EnergyLink?  


MR. GREEN:  We haven't noticed a spike or a decrease.  Obviously there's seasonality involved in it, Ms. Crain.


MS. CRAIN:  You haven't looked at that specifically, about whether there's a link?


MR. GREEN:  No.


MS. CRAIN:  The last question I have is following up on Mr. Shepherd's exploration of documents linking EnergyLink with other business opportunities that may or may not be pursued by Enbridge.


You gave him an answer.  And the question that I'd like to put to you is, we've seen that you have produced some documents showing linkages between EnergyLink and business opportunities that we now know affiliates are taking up, or an affiliate is taking up.  Are there any other documents that show linkages between EnergyLink and other business opportunities that may or may not be taken up by affiliates?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.


MS. CRAIN:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything more on EnergyLink?


MR. MILLAR:  Not on EnergyLink, no.  And I don't think anybody else does.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  I just have one question, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. KAISER:  I had asked you to produce some information indicating how you arrived at your forecasts of volume that you hope to achieve through these EnergyLink programs, and that was transcript 126 on the tenth day and it's produced as J10.7.  If you can turn that up.


And at the same time, if you could go to Exhibit J9.2, page 2 of 2, which is a revision of the volume to be achieved through EnergyLink and the Direct programs.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, we have that.


MR. KAISER:  First, when we look at high‑efficiency furnace, which is probably the biggest and most important item in all of this, in the Direct programs you've forecast a little over 3,000 participants, with a volume of -- I guess that's 6.4 million cubic metres, compared to the EnergyLink program for the same high‑efficiency furnace where you're forecasting 1,200 participants - this is in '07 - with a volume of 2.45.


Why is the volume that's achieved through the EnergyLink program only roughly a third of the volume that gets achieved in the Direct program?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I'd be happy to take an undertaking, but I'm just looking here, that it's in relation to the number of participants that we're assuming in each one.


So on the Direct program --


MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, we have ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Because there's three times the participants, there's three times more.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, correct.


MR. KAISER:  So staying with high‑efficiency furnaces, you're forecasting - and this is '07, of course - 1,200 participants and 2.45.  That is million cubic metres, is it not?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Million cubic metres, that's correct.


MR. KAISER:  That's your forecast.  And if I go to J10.7, if I look under "space heating", it says number of electric/oil furnaces.  I see the number of participants in '07 are 1,200 and the incremental gas load of 2.4 million cubic metres; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Which, of course, are the numbers that are in J9.2.


And to get that number, to get those forecasted, you assumed that you would convert 3 percent of some 36,000 electric/oil furnaces that would get replaced in that year; correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And then it jumps to 4 percent in each of the following three years.


Where did the 3 percent come from?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It was in discussion with our marketing staff as to our best estimate of what we think we could achieve with the program.


MR. KAISER:  And the base number, the 36,000 furnaces that you say are going to get replaced, I take it that's the number of the furnaces that are going to get replaced in your territory in that year; is that right?  And you're going to get 3 percent of them?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Sorry, they are electric or oil furnaces that we believe will be replaced?


MR. KAISER:  Right.  And where did you get that number from?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That was on our market saturation data that we have with respect to, What is the penetration rate of natural-gas furnaces?  What is the penetration rate of electric furnaces in our franchise area?


MR. KAISER:  Now, let's assume that's right, that it's accurate that in '07 there's a little over 36,000 of electric and oil furnaces that are going to get replaced by gas furnaces.  Then the question is:  Who's going to get the business?


And you say ‑‑ are you saying here that an additional 3 percent -- let me put the question differently.


You say that EnergyLink, the EnergyLink program, is going to get 3 percent of that number.  These would be distributors who are getting referrals through the EnergyLink program?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's right, and through the increased efforts to promote natural gas and ‑‑ yes, promotion of natural gas.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  These will be customers that we would get.


MR. KAISER:  The people actually doing the work are not you, the distributors.  You're simply providing them with the leads?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  So what's to say that they wouldn't get that business even if you didn't give them the leads? 


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  What the EnergyLink program is trying to do -- I mean, I know the characterization there is that it's a referral system, but, really, it's a channel program strategy, in that we're creating a channel that is motivated to promote natural gas.  


We will work with them to develop campaigns to encourage customers to switch from other fuels to natural gas.  So it's really taking it to the next level, an accelerated level of activity.


MR. KAISER:  So just so I understand, you're not saying it's 3 percent of the market.  If the amount of business that's to be obtained in '07 on some number that you've got from some forecast is 36,000 conversions in '07, are you saying that, as a result of your program, you think you could jump that number up by another 3 percent?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And I've checked these numbers with respect to all of the others, but let me just -- while we're on it, water heaters is another big item here, and on J9.2 you forecast 2,500 participants and a volume of 1.7 million cubic metres.  And if we go to water heaters on J10.7, sure enough, there's the 2,500 and the 1.7 million incremental gas.  


And, again, your belief is that, as a result of EnergyLink and your advertising, the number of conversions in '07 in your territory will go up by 2,500?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And when you say "incremental gas load fully effective" and in some cases "partially effective", what does that mean?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  And I appreciate that we have not filed J11.6 and that, I think, is being filed today, but that was the question that you asked in regards to:  Where do we see the impact of the overall OD added load programs on the revenue deficiency?


And there we get into a discussion of fully and partially effective.  But for all intents and purposes, fully effective means that the participant comes in on January 1st and that you get the ‑‑ you realize the full benefit of that added load program in that year.


Now, what happens more realistically is that you've got participants coming in through the year, and so you will need to take into account when those customers came on and what the consumption profile looks like.  So we call it partially effective.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  However, for 2008, they become fully effective.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  So if we look at J10.7 and we look at the bottom, the total volumes, you'll recall the total volume that you had recorded in all of these other forecasts are the 8 million cubic metres.  In fact, what you're going to get in '07 is not 8 but 4.5, which is the line below, the partially effective.


And that's because, in the case of water heaters, to give an example, all 2,500 aren't signing up on January 1st?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.  Sorry, if I ‑‑ just for the clarity of the record, I did want to advise that we have updated J10.7.  I did make a small error with respect to the lifestyle products and also on the partially effective. 


So just in regards to the context there, the partially effective volumes for 2007 is 4.002 million cubic metres of gas.


MR. KAISER:  But you would agree that if we were going to try and estimate the benefits of this program in terms of the added volume of gas, it would be the partially effective number that would be the real number?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  For the first year, and then when you look at a program over a certain period of time, they become fully effective in the subsequent year, and you take the partially effective volume of that year T plus 1.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Mr. Millar, I think that completes it for EnergyLink.  I'm wondering whether, given the weather, we might want to break now and come back in the morning and deal with the other issues with this panel, or we can continue on.


I think Mr. Vlahos has a meeting at 4:30.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I think we do have a time set certain for Mr. Adams at 9:30 tomorrow.   We may be able to discuss this with him in the morning.  Perhaps he's amenable to being bumped 90 minutes to finish this panel.  I think we should have plenty of time tomorrow to finish Mr. Adams, this panel, and the rate of implementation panel. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  9:30 tomorrow.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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